

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

African American Blended Parent Strategies' and the Influence on Children's School Performance

Christine Li'Chele' Moore Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the African American Studies Commons, and the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Christine Li'Chele' Moore

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Sandra Harris, Committee Chairperson, Human Services Faculty Dr. Scott Hershberger, Committee Member, Human Services Faculty Dr. Tracey Phillips, University Reviewer, Human Services Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

African American Blended Parent Strategies' and the Influence on Children's School Performance

by

Christine Li'Chele' Moore

MS, Springfield University, 2012

BS, Springfield University, 2010

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human and Behavioral/Social Services

Walden University

May 2021

Abstract

Due to increasing divorce rates, the number of Americans living in blended family households have increased over the decades. Studies have revealed that some school-aged children who experience family structural changes due to blending families may experience stress that negatively affects their school performance. The purpose of this study was to determine what strategies African American parents in blended family units used to lessen the impact of family structure change on their school-aged children's school performance. Bowen's family system's theory was used to guide this research. A generic qualitative design was used to obtain data from eight participants residing in a blended family household. Data were collected through semi-structured interviews with stepparents/biological parents. An inductive approach using Colaizzi's seven step method was used to analyze the data. Emerging themes were determined through thematic content analysis. Participants reported using strategies such as open communication with children and teachers, attending parent teacher meetings, attending school conferences, assisting with children with homework, and involving biological parents to address the changes in school performance. Human services professionals could use results from this study to promote social change by assisting parents in implementing strategies to address changes in their children's school performance as a result of family structural changes.

African American Blended Parent Strategies' and the Influence on Children's School Performance

by

Christine Li'Chele' Moore

MS, Springfield University, 2012

BS, Springfield University, 2010

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
Of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Human and Behavioral/Social Services

Walden University

May 2021

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my Mother and Father George Little-Miller and Maude Estelle Solomon-Miller who made blending a family unit appear unproblematic as they endured myriads of blended familial relational challenges. May you both rest in Peace....

This dissertation is also dedicated to the preschool/school-aged children and their blended families who patronized PhaZes Preschool/Enrichment Center from 2002 – 2010. May your challenges be few, may your life regrets, if any, be mitigated, and may your efforts not go unappreciated. Moreover, I would like to say thank you to my own blended family unit for accepting the things we could not change, and for changing the things we could as we strived to develop a high level of differentiation of self while fusing self into our unique blended family unit/culture. Thank you, for being you; and, because of you, I am me. Thank you.

Acknowledgments

Isaiah 41:10 says "Do not fear, for I am with you, do not be dismayed, for I am your God. I will strengthen you and help you; I will uphold you with my righteous right hand." He did; and because He did, I am. Thank you, my God, for giving me the ability to follow the footpath you have set before me. To my husband Dr. Moore and my family, who will never forget the words "I am all most there," I am grateful! To my young adult children and my pet Solomon who demanded no attention from me while I was submerged in my coursework and the Dissertation process, I thank you. I would also like to thank my grands for developing into the intelligent, beautiful, caring, and talented young ladies while enduring a "mailbox" GrandC over the past several years. You all truly Rock! For those who allowed me to muse thank you, ありがとう, gracias, nagode, misaotra, and tatenda!

Thanks to Dr. Harris, my Chair for her support, sound judgment, expertise, and wisdom throughout my dissertation journey. Her phrases "give me more and that's an awkward sentence" will forever ring in my ears. Dr. Philips, for her stellar advice and coming onboard when needed. Dr. Castleberry whose listening ears and subtle feedback during my residencies promoted perfection, and Dr. Chenoweth, thank you for your patience and expertise, and Dr. Hershberger, thank you so much for stepping in when needed and adding your expertise. Because of you all, to include my core course professors my journey with Walden University has been humbling and rewarding. I am truly forever changed and prepared to assist our society with the challenging dilemmas endured by our greatest human assets, which are our children.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	vi
List of Figures	vii
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	2
Statement of the Problem	5
Purpose of the Study	6
Research Question	7
Conceptual Framework	7
Nature of the Study	8
Operational Definitions	9
Assumptions	10
Scope and Delimitation	11
Limitation	11
Significance	13
Summary	14
Chapter 2: Literature Review	15
Literature Search Strategy	16
Bowen's Family System Theory	17
Triangles	18
Differentiation of Self	19
Emotional Cutoff	20

Family Projection Process.	21
Sibling Positioning	22
Nuclear Family Emotional Process	23
Emotional Process in Society	24
Multigenerational Transmission Processes	25
Applications of Bowen's Theory	26
Literature Review Related to Key Constructs	28
Blended Family Relations	31
Impact of Family Structural Change	32
African American Blended Family Challenges	36
BFU Familial Stressors and the Impact on Education	41
Pre and Post Family Structure Change Challenges	42
Summary	43
Chapter 3: Research Method	45
Research Design and Rationale	45
Role of the Researcher	48
Methodology	50
Participant Selection Logic	50
Sampling Strategy	51
Sample Size	51
Instrumentation	52
Procedures for Recruiting Participant	53

Data Collection	54
Interviews	54
Audio-Recording.	55
Exit Strategy	56
Audit Trail	56
Data Analysis Plan	57
Issues of Trustworthiness	60
Credibility	61
Transferability	62
Dependability	62
Confirmability	63
Ethical Procedures	64
Summary	65
Chapter 4: Results	66
Settings	66
Demographic	66
Data Collection	67
Data Analysis	67
Evidence of Trustworthiness	69
Credibility	69
Transferability	70
Dependability	71

Confirmability	72
Results	72
Emergent Themes Across Interview Questions	75
Types of Changes in Behavior	77
Interactions with School to Address Behavior	79
Interactions with child to address school performance	80
Actions Taken to Lessen Impact of Family Structural Change	81
Child's perception of school performance issues	82
Advice for addressing school performance	83
Composite Summary	85
Summary	87
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	89
Interpretation of Findings Relative to the Literature Review	90
Changes in behavior	90
Interactions with School to Address School Behavior	91
Interactions with Child to Address Behavior	92
Actions to Lessen Impact of Family Structural Changes on Child	92
Child's perception of school performance	93
Advice for Other Parents	94
Interpretation of the Findings and Bowen's Family Systems Theory	95
Triangles	95
Differentiation of Self	97

Limitations of the Study	98
Recommendations	100
Implications for Positive Social Change	101
Summary	102
References	104
Appendix A: Prescreening Interview Questions	118
Appendix B: Parent Participant Ouestions	119

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic Information for Participants	66
Table 2. Blended Family Background	73
Table 3. Changes in Child's School Behavior	74

List of Figures

Figure 1. Emergent Themes Across Interview Questions	77

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

The blended family unit (BFU) is a unique family structure which is created when children are brought into a relationship by adult partners who remarry after divorce or death of a previous partner (Ryan et al., 2015). The BFU may operate under intense relational pressures and conflict (Lee & McLanahan, 2015). Researchers have revealed that some children in BFUs experience relational issues and conflict, which can negatively affect their school grades and behavior (Bryant et al., 2016; Lee & McLanahan, 2015). Adjusting to a BFU can be even more challenging for blended African American families due to the higher rates of poverty, racial discrimination, and academic challenges specific to this demographic (Parker 2015), which can negatively affect the behavior of their African American children (Parker, 2011). In 2016, data from the United States Census Bureau revealed that only 38.7% of African American minors lived with both biological parents (U. S. Census Bureau, 2016). In 2017, data from the US census revealed that 61% of African American children resided in blended/stepfamily households (U. S. Census Bureau, 2017). After a thorough review of the literature, I was unable to locate any research which addressed specific strategies that African American parents in blended families in the United States used to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine what strategies African American parents in BFUs adopted to lessen the impact that family structural changes may have had on their children.

In this chapter, I present a brief discussion of the literature on how family structural changes impact children. Problems resulting from familial structure change and

the purpose of the study are also presented in this chapter. In addition, I identify the research question and discuss the conceptual framework that was used to guide the study. The nature of the study, the assumptions, limitations, and the significance of this study are also introduced in this chapter.

Background

Because of a high divorce rate and the likelihood of second marriages among couples who have young children, many children in the United States may experience living in BFU households where they are parented by a nonbiological parent (Bastaits & Mortelmans, 2017). Consequently, over the past several years, the BFU has become one of the most common family structures in the United States (Havermans et al., 2017). In 2017, results from the American Community Survey revealed that out of 4 million stepchildren in the United States, 2.4 million were younger than 18 years old (Census Bureau, 2019). Jensen (2017) asserted that one-third of American children will experience living in a stepfamily before their 18th birthday. Therefore, stepfamilies are becoming increasingly more common and may endure distinct challenges such as relationship issues, child loyalty binds between parents, stepparent child relations, and disagreements about parenting roles and or strategies (Jensen, 2017).

Over the past few years, research that has examined how changes in familial structure impacts children has increased (Doctoroff & Arnold, 2017; Bastaits & Mortelmans, 2017). For example, Jensen (2017) was among the first researchers to address the dyadic relational challenges such as stepfamily boundary ambiguity, role

conflict and societal stigmas that occur among stepmothers and stepchildren in residential stepfamilies. The author asserted that step-relations are important because the initial step-parenting strategies shaped the bonding foundation of stepparent/stepchild relations (Jensen, 2017). In another study, Jensen and Harris (2017) also addressed the effects of changes in family structure and the resultant impact on school-age children. The researchers found that young children who experienced changes in family relations involving stepfather/stepchild relations were more likely to result in social and behavioral problems in the child's early school years.

El-Sheikh et al. (2014) focused on the relational stressors experienced by schoolaged children who resided in blended family households. Findings revealed that familial stressors interfered with the children's sleep and intellectual functioning, which negatively impacted their emotional well-being. Other researchers also found cognitive developmental delays in areas such as their ability to learn, reason, and think abstractly, as well as the children's ability to process their emotions (Kohlhoff et al., 2016).

Arnold et al. (2017) examined the impact that family structural changes had on the school performance among 995 military youth. Findings from the study revealed that children residing in stepfamilies and other disruptive family units reported poorer grades and challenges with depression than children residing in all biological family households (Arnold et al., 2017). The authors iterated that using parental strategies that promoted good parent-child relations and school involvement would lessen the negative impact that family structural change has on youth. The authors asserted that good

stepparent/stepchild relations would result in an increase in the stepchild's school performance (Arnold et al., 2017).

Metts et al. (2017) examined the emotional and communicative profiles of young adults who experienced living in stepfamilies during their childhood years. Using regression analysis, to determine if age made a difference in the impact that family structure change had on children, the authors examined stressful predictors such as negative emotions and the age of the young adult during parental divorce (Metts et al., 2017). Their findings revealed that some of the negative strong emotions' participants felt during their parent's initial divorce were anger and hurt, sadness and apprehension to blend into the new BFU (Metts et al., 2017). According to the authors, a child's negative emotions, no matter what age the child is at the time of stepfamily formation, lays the foundation as to how the child responds to their new step/blended family environment. Researched findings indicate that African American children residing with stepfathers endure more negative emotions resulting from family structure changes (Bryant et al., 2016). Overall, Browne and Battle (2018) asserted that African American children experience more familial related challenges due to living arrangement changes than other non-African American children. In another study, the authors examine the relationship between family stressors and outcomes relating to African American youth concerns such as low academic performance and juvenile justice involvement. Browne and Battle examined the family composition of 638 African Americans families, and the interpersonal family relations and stressors experienced by African Americans adolescents in low-income families to gain insight on how family stressors can influence

a child's overall behavior. Researched findings indicated that family stressors induced many risk factors to include lower school performance and juvenile justice involvement. (Browne & Battle, 2018)). Voisin et al. (2016) asserted that, as a result of the connection between familial stress and African American adolescent behavioral concerns, interventions which focus on familial stressors are warranted.

Statement of the Problem

Findings from past research has revealed that school aged children living in BFUs may endure familial relational conflicts, parenting style differences, stepsibling rivalry, and other stressors in the family unit (Jensen & Harris, 2017). According to Jensen and Harris (2017), stressors related to family structural changes which create a negative family relation can contribute to psychological distress among school-age children, which could negatively impact the children's cognitive functioning in their school settings.

Findings from other studies have linked distressed/unhealthy familial relations in BFUs to negative adolescent outcomes such as poor school performance, impaired social skills, poor cognitive functioning, and physiological illness in school-aged children (Arnold et al., 2017; Browne et al., 2018; Crouch et al., 2019 & Kouros & Garber, 2014).

Findings from other past studies have further indicated that African American children residing in African American BFUs with African American stepfathers are more likely to experience complex family structural changes. The authors asserted that the complex family structural change result in disruptive households and can hinder a child's overall well-being (Bryant et al., 2016). Zaharychuk (2017) also shared that divorce and

remarriage has been connected to emotional and behavioral issues, which can lead to the inhibition of psychological development in young children.

Browne and Battle (2018) examined the impact of family structure and educational outcomes of African American children residing in BFUs. The authors compared child response to family structural changes between African American and non-African American children. Findings revealed that changes in family living arrangements due to the creation of stepfamilies disproportionately impact Black families more than non-Black families because of the lack of communal support during the new family formation (Browne & Battle, 2018).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families adopted to lessen the impact that family structural changes had on their children's school performance. Participants were parents of school-aged children in grades K-12 residing in BFUs. Study participants resided in a two parent (male and female) BFU. In an effort to examine the impact in which family structural changes, during a child's school years, impacts a child's academic performance, and to examine the actions that parents took to lessen the effect, the schoolage children of the parents in the study had experienced negative family structural changes and poor academic performance within the study year.

Research Question

What strategies do African American parents in blended family units adopt to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was Bowen's family systems theory (FST). Bowen introduced the FST in 1975 during a symposium with his colleagues to explain why the mental status of some of his discharged patients deteriorated after returning to their home environments (Bowen, 1976). Bowen explained that family systems theory could be used to explain how the quality of familial relations affects the behavior of individuals in family units. In addition, Bowen (1976) addressed how family patterns of dealing with emotions and relationships could be connected to healthy and/or unhealthy relations within the family. Bowen's FST was used to explain how blended family structural change may affect children's school performance. Bowen's FST consists of eight concepts that are used to explain how individuals responds to their family system. Those eight concepts are triangles, differentiation of self, emotional cutoff, sibling positioning, family projection process, nuclear family emotional system, multi-generational transmission process, and societal emotional process. The principles from Bowen's FST were appropriate for guiding this research because the principles were used to describe how structural changes in BFUs could potentially affect African American children's school performance. Bowen's FST assisted in understanding why African American parents use familiar strategies to address their children's school

performance. Details regarding each the major premises of FST are presented in Chapter 2.

Nature of the Study

The nature of this study was a generic qualitative inquiry. Kennedy (2016) indicated that a generic qualitative inquiry should be used when researchers seek to examine the perspectives of a group of individuals related to a specific phenomenon. Recent U.S. Census reports revealed that, in 2017, 61% of African American children resided in blended/stepfamily households (U. S. Census Bureau, 2017). The report indicated that African American blended families may face unique familial related challenges. Therefore, a generic qualitative approach was used to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families used to mitigate the impact that family structural changes may have had on their children's school performance as it relates to poorer grades and negative behaviors.

Purposeful sampling was used to recruit 10–12 parents of blended family households. Guassora et al. (2015) indicated that purposeful sampling should be used to target a sample of individuals who meet the participant criteria for participating in the study. According to Guassora et al. (2015), the researchers' goal should be recruiting a sample of individuals with a shared experience, which would enhance the likelihood that the data will reach saturation. Saturation occurred once meanings of coded themes were exhaustive, and no new insight could be developed or shared.

Semi structured interviews were used to collect data from African American parents of blended family households. The criteria for the participants were that they

must have been married for a minimum of 1 year and no more than 5 years. In addition, participants must have either a biological and/or a nonbiological school-aged child living in the home who were experiencing or who had recently experienced poor school performance such as low grades and/or negative behavior. To achieve accurate transcriptions and to maintain confidentiality of data during data collection, the participant interviews were audiotaped and transcribed verbatim by me only. In addition, the transcribed data was verified through member checking by study participants for accuracy.

Operational Definitions

Academic performance: the current level of Grade Point Average (GPA) based on a student's school performance (O'Malley et al. 2015).

African Americans: Black people living in the United States who are descended from families that originally came from Africa (Collins, 2019).

Blended family dilemmas (BFD): refers to the familial conflicts which may exist in a blended family unit (Moore, 2015).

Blended family population (BFP): denotes a group of people who reside in non-biological family units (Moore, 2015).

Blended family relational dilemmas: are the relational issues that are continual to the point that the dilemma disrupts the blended family unit (Moore, 2015).

Blended family unit (BFU): consists of a non-biological family structure that is created as the result of a second marriage where one or more partners in the marriage have at least one nonbiological offspring from a previous relationship (Moore, 2015).

Dyadic relationship: a familial relationship that exists between two people within a family unit (Bowen, 1976).

Family structure change: a change in a family's structure or living arrangement resulting from divorce or death of a married partner (Arnold et al., 2017)

Negative relational dilemma: relationship issues which cause havoc and/or ill feelings between two or more parties (DeGreeff & Platt, 2016).

School-aged children: A child who has entered the public-school system K thru12 (Moore, 2015).

School performance: the level/quality of participation exhibited by a student in a school setting relating to poor grades and or negative behavior (O'Malley et al., 2015).

Assumptions

This study was based on certain assumptions, which first included the assumption that African American parents who reside in a BFU would provide responses to interview questions that reflect honesty and truthfulness. Any dishonest responses given can negatively impact results from the study (Davidson et al., 2017). Another basic assumption was that I would be able to refrain from any researcher biases during data collection (in-depth interviews) and/or transcribing. To avoid researcher bias and to establish trustworthiness and validity in this study, I refrained from personal opinions and perceived judgements during interviews. In addition, I used reflexivity and bracketing to minimize researcher bias. Additional details on reflexivity and bracketing are presented in Chapter 3.

Another assumption was that the use of in-depth interviews can be used to elicit rich detailed responses from participants regarding the phenomenon of interest (Levitt, 2016). I therefore assume that by using open-ended questions during face-to-face interviews, I would be able to capture the diverse perspectives of participants regarding the strategies they used to address the impact of family structural changes on their children's academic performance.

Scope and Delimitation

The scope of this study included African American BFUs which had at least one nonbiological parental figure was recruited to participate in the study. Additionally, at least one of the school-aged children in the home had low school performance such as low grades and negative behavior at school in the year prior to the interview.

A delimitation in this study is that the focus of this study was only on how the African American parents in the Central West Florida region of Florida addressed the academic and behavioral challenges of their children. Therefore, other areas of the BFU dynamics were not examined.

Limitation

Connelly (2016) asserted that transferability is present in a study when others can reproduce a study using rich data that provides a detailed audit trail of a previous study. A limitation of this study was that participants sample size only represented a small number of the African American blended family parents and their children within Central West Florida region.

Another possible limitation of this study is that the face-to-face interview process may be intimidating to the participants and cause them to be hesitant in responding to the interview questions. During the interview process, the informed consent informed participants that they do not have to answer any questions they did not choose.

Another possible limitation to this study is that some challenges endured and presented by the BFU parents were not pertinent to this study because the primary focus is on how African American family structural changes impact a child's school performance. To minimize this limitation, during interviews, parents were reminded of the purpose of the study and given time to note pertinent details about family structural changes and their child's school performance surrounding time periods of negative child behaviors. A fourth possible limitation is that the frequent occurrences in which a blended family tolerates BFU dilemmas may cause the family unit to respond and accept some dilemmas as the norm for their BFU. Therefore, this may cause parent participants to not report pertinent rich information relating to the impact that family structural change has had on their child/ren. To minimize this limitation, blended family parents who had been united with their new family units for less than 5 years were recruited for the study. Participants drop out may be another external limitation to this study as it may interfere with establishing saturation. The findings only represented African American blended family parents and children in public schools residing in the Central West Florida region and who have fewer familial related resources. Therefore, a main limitation that was presented in this study is that African American school-aged children residing in BFUs, who are attending private or chartered schools, which may have more

access to familial-related resources such as family counseling were not represented in this study.

Significance

This study examined what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact that family structural changes had on their children's school performance; and the actions that parents took to lessen the effect. This project was unique because it informed further research and increase the understanding of blended family dilemmas, and the actions that parents took to lessen the effect of those dilemmas. Results from this study were shared with pertinent local human services entities and national education officials. This study added to the existing body of literature that explores how family structure change, resulting in African American BFU's, impact children's school performance. This study also added to the existing body of literature that explores the actions that African American parents took to lessen the effect of that family structure change. Consequently, the secondary significance of this study is that human services professionals may be able to use the information from this study to present empirical evidence that supports the need for a more in-depth look into the challenges experienced by African American students who reside in a BFU. An implication in the study is that African American family structural changes can negative impact the academic performance in some African American school-age children who reside in a BFU.

Summary

The number of blended family households in the United States has increased over the past several years (Siebel, 2014). Suh et al. (2016) noted that the number of children residing in blended family households is expected to continue to rise. Lee and McLanahan (2015) asserted that there is a strong connection between family structural changes and a child's overall cognitive development. Researchers Doctoroff and Arnold (2017) also studied the cognitive performance of children who experienced familial related dilemmas, and they concluded as well that children who experienced stressed family structure changes have lower levels of school performance.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their school-aged child's school performance. A generic qualitative inquiry was utilized to conduct the study. Charmaz (2006) asserted that when seeking to understand a group or persons, it is best to use a qualitative inquiry. Therefore, an assumption regarding this study was that study participants will openly share pertinent details about their blended family dilemmas. This chapter is followed by a review of the pertinent literature in Chapter 2. Chapter 3 follows with a description of the study design; criteria for participants, procedures which were used to collect data, to include, how data obtained were assessed. In Chapter 4, I present the results and then in Chapter 5, I discuss the implications of those results.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Findings from past research has revealed that because of the high divorce rates among African American married couples with young children, the blended family household (stepfamily) has become a common family structure in the United States (Siebel, 2014). As mentioned, in 2016, data from the U.S. Census Bureau revealed that only 38.7% of African American minors lived with both biological parents (U. S. Census Bureau, 2016). In 2017, data from the U.S. Census revealed that 61% of African American children resided in blended/stepfamily households (U. S. Census Bureau, 2017). Researchers have indicated that family structural changes could result in distressed and/or triangulated relational dilemmas within blended families. The stress that schoolage children experience when they endure family structural changes can interfere with the children's school performance (de Brey et al., 2017; Lacewell, 2016).

This chapter presents a review of past and current literature on how the impact of family structural changes can affect African American blended families and their children's school performance. The first two sections in this chapter consist of the literature search strategy and Bowen's FST which was the conceptual framework for this study. The remaining sections of this chapter present literature related to the complex challenges of blended family formation and the impact that family structure changes have on the school performance of African American school-aged children residing in blended family households.

Literature Search Strategy

I used sources within the Walden Online Library System to locate literature for this research. To search for literature related to the topic of interest for this study. I logged into the SocINDEX with Full Text, which is the world's most comprehensive sociological research database. Within the SocINDEX link, I selected additional databases such as Academic Search Complete, Education Source, ERIC, Military and Government Complete, Open Dissertations, Primary Search, PsycARTICLES, and PsycInfo search for literature related to topics of interest in this study. To obtain germane literature, I used terms such as African American blended family, Black blended family, blended family dilemmas, stepfamily, Black stepmother, Black stepfather, school performance, education, and school dropouts. To narrow the literature search to locate articles on African American BFU's with school-aged children, I used additional search terms and phrases such as Black adolescence, Black step-parenting, child/alternative living arrangements, African American family structure/change, Black parents, Black children, Black step-parenting, and school achievement. I also used various online websites such as the Department of Education's resource site, Springfield University's Library System, and Yale University's Library System.

I also searched for related literature at MacDill Air Force Base Library, the
University of South Florida library, and various county-level public libraries. There was
limited research that specifically focused on strategies African American blended family
parents adopted to mitigate the impact that family structure change had on African
American school-aged children's school performance. In addition, locating literature

which examined the strategies that African American parents used to mitigate the impact that family structural changes had on children's school performance were also limited. In the following section, Bowen's FST is presented as the conceptual framework for guiding my study. Bowen's FST was used to assist in examining strategies African American blended family parents adopted to mitigate the impact that family structure change had on their children's school performance.

Bowen's Family System Theory

Bowen introduced FST to his colleagues and the mental health community during a speaking engagement in 1975 (Bowen, 1976). Bowen studied behaviors of patients who were re-admitted for psychiatric care after being reunited with their families following successful mental health treatment. Bowen concluded that the heightened negative interactions within the family units were the probable cause of patient's readmittance to treatment (Bowen, 1975). Bowen proposed that family structural changes and the degree of human emotions among family members is important when attempting to determine how individuals develop within a family system/unit (Bowen, 1975). One of Bowen's main concerns was the heightened emotional disturbances that occurred among two parties in a family system (Bowen, 1978). He referred to such two-party systems as dyadic relationships.

Bowen asserted that there are eight interlocking concepts that affect familial relations (Bowen, 1976). The eight interlocking concepts are triangles, differentiation of self, emotional cutoff, sibling positioning, family projection process, nuclear family emotional system, multigenerational transmission process, and societal emotional process

(Bowen, 1978). Although there was a concern for the dyadic relationships endured by his clients after the client returned to home, Bowen argued that researchers must study the quality and/or relational make up of an entire family unit in order to understand individual behavior (Bowen, 1978).

Triangles

According to Bowen (1976), a triangle is a three-party relationship system that is typically created when one party of a dyadic relationship includes another party into the dyadic relationship. Bowen (1976) indicated that triangles mostly form within a family when people in a dyadic relationship have high anxiety. Although the third party may absorb some negative feelings from the people in the dyadic relationship, higher levels of tension may be created when the third party begins to take sides with one of the persons in the triangle (Bowen, 1978). According to Bowen (1978), as the new person becomes an insider to the dyad, which results in leaving one of the dyadic duos as an outsider, heightened tension in the triangle may lead to relational problems throughout the family. Bowen (1978) asserted that a family member who makes up the triangle may fight off becoming the "out" person in a three-party relationship. Bowen (1978) reiterated that a member in the triangle relation may attempt to distribute negative feelings throughout the family, and that distribution may be the family member's internal way of processing and solving a solution. As those negative feelings go unresolved, the resulting familial dilemmas may cause the negative feelings between blended family member dyadic and triangle relations to worsen (Bowen, 1978).

According to a study in 2017, school-aged children are more likely to have problems building new blended familial relations (Jensen et al., 2017). The authors also asserted that the construct period of the new BFU formation can be a stressful experience for young children. Therefore, the complexity in the formation of the BFU which includes building new dyadic (stepparent-stepchild or stepsibling) and triangular relations such as stepparent-biological parent and child relations can add stressors which interfere with the school-aged child's overall wellbeing (Jensen et al., 2017).

Differentiation of Self

Differentiation of self refers to a person's attempts to maintain personal beliefs and/or values while being emotionally connected to others in familial relationships (Bowen, 1978). Bowen asserted that when a person puts another's preferences/desires before his or her own preferences, that person's differentiation of self may be adversely affected. Bowen suggested that differentiation of self develops early during childhood. According to Bowen, if a child's differentiation is low, it could mean that the child has learned early in life to ignore self-preferences in deference to preferences of others in the family unit. A low differentiation might dictate how a child would later interact in other relations. Bowen (1978) shared that although a person's differentiation of self may be low, it can be altered later in life with much effort.

Bowen further shared that well-differentiated people experience higher conflict resolution during decision-making moments as they are able to handle conflicts in a more productive manner. With regards to decision-making, Bowen shared that well-differentiated people are less likely to react with fewer decision-making skills and are

more likely to acquire principles that increase decision-making skills. Whereas less differentiated people experience more guilt, conflicts, and unresolved familial related dilemmas (Bowen, 1978). Bowen (1978) asserted that poorly differentiated people depend heavily on the acceptance and approval of others.

In regard to the children in a BFU, their ability to adjust to family structural change is naturally lower simply because of their age maturity (Jensen et al., 2017). Moreover, when it comes to their desire to "fit" in their new family unit, their level of differentiation of self is lowered because of their level of emotional interdependence. Therefore, because children are unable to exert power in the new family unit, it is the level of emotional interdependence that lowers their differentiation of self which can negatively impact their school performance (Jensen et al., 2017).

Emotional Cutoff

Emotional cutoff occurs when a person disconnects from other family members in an effort to manage unresolved conflicts (Bowen, 1978). Bowen asserted that prior to emotional cutoff, people become emotionally trapped and may not be capable of expressing their inner feelings (Bowen, 1978). As a means of escape, and instead of causing confrontation with family members, the emotionally trapped family member may begin to distance themselves by moving away from the other family members. Bowen also noted that when a person becomes emotionally trapped and cut off from family, the individual may place unhealthy demands on members of the new family. Bowen (1978) concluded that individuals who endure continual negative familial emotions without any means of resolution are more likely to separate emotionally and cut off from family.

According to Bowen, family members may experience emotional stress as a result of contact with one who is emotionally cut off from family members (Bowen, 1978).

According to Bowen, children are less likely to be able to handle family related stressors. Bowen asserted that a child's inability to handle stressors could lead to the child experiencing emotional cutoff. Bowen (1978) asserted that emotional cutoff simply shifts any unresolved familial related problems. In a BFU, parents who are exhibiting emotional cutoff, and continues to reside in the BFU household, can have a negative impact on children's academic performance. Researched findings indicated that stressful experienced endured by the children in the BFU, can negatively interfere with a schoolaged child's overall emotional well-being (Jensen et al., 2017).

Family Projection Process

The family projection process occurs when parents project their conflicts onto their children by exposing the children to their arguments and other adult matters (Bowen, 1978). Bowen asserted that the problems that children inherit from parents mostly impact the children's needs for attention and approval. Because of the desired need for attention and approval in the child, the child may become vulnerable to behaviors that may escalate into chronic problems such as behavioral issues, medical issues, and anxiety (Bowen, 1978).

The family projection process occurs in three steps. In the first step, parents may start to focus on a child because of concerns that something is mentally or behaviorally atypical with the child (Bowen, 1978). Bowen asserted that during this first step, parents may become overprotective. During the second step, parents may start interpreting the

child's behavior as evidence that something is wrong with the child and they may start making anticipated/readily excuses for the child's behaviors to others. Finally, in step three, the parents may begin treating the child as if something is wrong with the child. Bowen (1978) asserted that the parents' involvement in the family projection process becomes an attempt to "fix" the child's "perceived" problem. Unfortunately, the more intense the family projection process is projected towards a child, the more the child may personify the perceived fears of the parent/s and embody the characteristics of the perceived problem (Bowen, 1978). According to current researched findings, children in a BFU who embodies the problematic characteristics and complexed networks during the family projection process can develop a lower differentiation of self, which could have a negative impact on their overall wellbeing (Jensen 2017).

Sibling Positioning

Bowen added sibling positioning to his family systems theory in 1976 after reading psychologist Tolman's 1961 work relating to sibling positioning. Bowen (1976) shared that sibling positioning refers to the order/position of a person in a family unit. Bowen (1976) asserted that having knowledge of the sibling position of a person can predict pertinent characteristics of that person. Bowen reiterated that "no single piece of data is more important than knowing the sibling positioning of people in their present or past generation" (p. 87). In regard to marriage and divorce, Bowen asserted that couples who marry a spouse which experienced the same or different sibling position, as a child, will have an impact on the union. Bowen asserted that when two persons who were the oldest sibling become married, they are more likely to battle over who is the decision-

maker in their family. Similar issues exist when two people become partners who were the youngest sibling in their family unit. However, according to Bowen, the youngest siblings will ponder over who gets to lean on whom (Bowen, 1978). In regard to sibling positioning, Bowen asserted that no matter which of the varied sibling positions couples are custom to, their level of differentiation of self would determine how they respond in their marital union (Bowen, 1978). The sibling positioning concept is important to BFU parents as it reveals the "what, why and how" in why some of the parental challenges within the new union interferes with school-aged children's overall school performance. As an example, imagine a child who was the baby of their biological first family entering a new blended family formation where they are now propelled into the oldest sibling position. The expectation of that child is to take on the older sibling role during stepfamily formation. According to past research findings such post-divorce living arrangement challenges experienced by school aged children can induce relational stressors which could hinder their school engagement (Havermans et al., 2017).

Nuclear Family Emotional Process

Nuclear family projection process occurs when negative familial matters between family dyads are projected into relations with other family members. Bowen (1978) asserted that there are four patterns of behavior that govern the nuclear family projection process and cause stress in the family unit. The four patterns are marital conflict, dysfunction in one spouse, impairment of one or more children, and emotional distance. According to Bowen, any of the four patterns of behavior can cause anxiety in one family member and/or in one or more familiar relationships. Bowen (1978) shared that all four

patterns can be present in the nuclear family units. Bowen shared that the level of anxiety depends on the family's ability to adapt to the endured tension brought on by the stressors from one or more of the four patterns (Bowen, 1978).

According to Bowen (1978), the nuclear family emotional process explains how children may be impacted as they are coached by either parent to choose the side of a residential nonbiological parent versus the biological nonresidential parent during family structural changes (Bowen, 1978). School-age children who experience stress relating to parent-child relations such as this are more likely to develop a lower differentiation of self as they fuse self into the BFU. In addition, as a result of the emotional stressors experience by the school-age members in the BFU, they are more likely to have poorer school engagement than children who do not endure such stress relating to familial belonging in their new family unit (King et al., 2015).

Emotional Process in Society

Bowen (1976) asserted that the emotional process in society is the process that families use to govern unwanted familial behavior. Bowen (1978) asserted that short-term solutions to family dilemmas can become both progressive (gradual and ongoing) and regressive (relapsing and/or deteriorating). Bowen (1978) shared that he first discovered the link between familial and societal emotional processes while treating juvenile delinquents. Bowen (1978) shared that a family enduring delinquency in a child is considered to be experiencing societal driven regression. When Bowen uncovered those similarities between society functioning and family function, he asserted that similar challenges existed in other institutions such as schools and governing entities (Bowen,

1976). Bowen asserted that "the increase in problems children is experiencing is a part of emotional process in society as a whole" (Bowen, 1976).

In a BFU, the biological parent and/or nonbiological parent residing in a BFU, are more likely than all biological first family parents to mitigate a familial problem in an effort to make their BFU family unit appear as if it is functioning without any disturbances (Arnold et, al., 2017). Unfortunately, when the familial problem which is child-centered resurfaces after being mitigated by parents, the problem is most likely magnified 10-fold causing the child to endure high levels of familial stressors. It is hypothesized that these stressors are one of the main culprits that ends in academic challenges for school-aged children in BFU (Arnold et, al., 2017).

Multigenerational Transmission Processes

Bowen (1978) concluded that the multigenerational transmission process consists of parental differentiation of self being passed on to their offspring. Bowen shared how small differences of levels of low differentiation of self among parents and their children can crossover into generations (Bowen, 1978). He noted that marital instability, the ability to reproduce, health, and education accomplishments can become some of the major issues sparked by multi-generation transmission (Bowen, 1978). According to Bowen, people are sensitive to and react to the presence or absence of pertinent family relationships. Bowen argued that how one reacts to the presence or absence of relations stalks from one's genetic inheritance and is responsible for shaping the differentiation of self (Bowen 1978). Bowen (1978) asserted that the root of the generational transmitted issues can become so embodied in some families that family members may be prone to

experiencing chaotic lives. This concept is relevant to the BFU as well, because, fully understanding how the non-residential parent's adopted parental strategies have influenced the development of their offspring, can assist in the understanding of why a child innately respond to their parents' moods, attitudes, and actions (Forehand et al., 2015). Researched findings indicated that similar to residential blended family parents, non-residential blended family parental influences can have a negative or positive influence on a child's school performance (Forehand et al., 2015).

In my study, the premises of Bowen's FST were used to guide my research. The concepts in Bowen's theory assisted in explaining the how and why some African American children, who experience family structure change that ends in a blended family can have low school performance. Bowen's theory on triangles, emotional cutoff, sibling positioning and the family assisted in connecting BFU challenges endured by schoolaged children to poor school performance.

Applications of Bowen's Theory

Over the past few decades, concepts within Bowen's FST have been used to examine family structures and how negative familial relations may impact members in a household. For instance, Kolbert et al. (2013) used FST in their qualitative study to determine the most appropriate way to help adolescents understand family dynamics. The researchers asserted that Bowen's concept of differentiation of self is an indicator of a child's ability to balance individuality while fusing in their family system (Kolbert et al., 2013). Findings from the study revealed that the degree of fusion dictated how adolescents respond to their family unit. The researchers found that adolescent's degree

of fusion brought on heightened stressors, from internalizing negative parental messages, were related to the adolescent's negative behavior in family and school settings (Kolbert et al., 2013). This research informed the study because it lends insight on how family structural changes can impact behaviors exhibited by school-age children.

Turunen (2014) examined data from the Swedish register of data from 1978 to 2007, that measured school performance in the educational settings of 9th graders who experienced the birth of maternal versus paternal halfsiblings. Findings from the author's quantitative study revealed that there was a difference in educational attainment, after the 9th grade, among children who experienced half-sibling relationships post-separation of their family system change (Turunen, 2014). The author examined data from 874,812 9th grade students to measure educational outcomes and well-being outcomes such as psychological and behavioral outcomes (Turunen, 2014). Key findings revealed that children who experienced sibling positioning changes due to a blended family structural change experienced lower school performance (Turunen, 2014). The authors concluded that the complexity in experiencing a change in sibling positioning was stressful for a child and can impact the ability to socialize and have successful school performance (Turunen, 2014). The findings from this study revealed the adolescents in postseparation with half-siblings had poorer school performance. Findings from this study supports Bowen's concept of how sibling positioning affects children in blended families. Results from the Turunen study informed my study by providing empirical data on how the experience of a blended family with half-siblings may affect a child's school performance as it relates to poor grades and negative behavior.

In another study, Palombi (2016) applied the principles of differentiation of self, multigenerational process, and the emotional cut off concepts of Bowen's theory to her own family. The purpose of the study was to examine how separation from the nuclear family system during her childhood later affected her emotional state. Palombi (2016) revealed that her health was impacted due to the emotional stressors as evidenced by her adult hospitalizations. She also indicated that her adult intimate relations were impacted because of mistrust she felt from the adults in her early childhood. Palombi asserted that her childhood experiences gave her a pre-perception of the adults in her life which contributed to her differentiation of self and resulted in emotional cut-off. After examining multiple accounts of being separated from her mother, father, and extended family members as a child, Palombi concluded that many areas of her social functioning were impaired due to the multiple familial separations. Palombi (2016) asserted that her negative internalized stressors caused her to carry over the emotions into her adult life (family projection process). Palombi's article shared insight on how principles of Bowen's FST could be used to explain how early childhood familial relations negatively impact a child's early development of the differentiation of self as it can cause family projection and emotional cut-off in adult years. She also shared that familial relations could have a negative impact on adult social relations, and an adult's overall health.

Literature Review Related to Key Constructs

Although there has been some earlier literature which revealed the complexity in stepfamily formation and a child's overall well-being, limited literature examined blended family parental strategies and the impact on their children's school performance.

Moreover, some studies did examine the child's perception of divorce, new blended family formation (BFF) and parental knowledge of BFF. As an example, the following is literature which examines child perceptions of divorce and new family formation. Jensen and Shafer (2013) conducted a quantitative study to determine how family characteristics influenced a child's perception of their stepfamily, and their overall well-being after blending into a new family unit. Jensen and Shafer collected data from 1,088 10 to 16year-old children who were living with stepfathers. Jensen and Shafer (2013) concluded that at the time of their study, early research conducted on the stepfamily system did not report on the child's perception of the family system and the impact the new family structure had on their overall well-being. The authors asserted that there is not a one-sizefit-all method to assisting children in adapting to family structure change. Jensen and Shafer's study provides insight into how a child's perception of family stressors relating to the family structural change is important and can negatively influence pertinent areas of their life if overlooked by the adults in their family. Now, Zartler et al. (2015) conducted a study to examine the dynamics of family resulting from divorce and separation. The authors asserted that the increase in divorce rates over the past few decades has created new family structures which may create emotional challenges for families and children. The authors also asserted that post-divorce children and parents endure challenges such as legal custody arrangements and boundary issues that interfere with a child's overall well-being (Zartler et al., 2015). Although many studies have been conducted to examine familial related dilemmas resulting from challenges post-divorce the authors asserted that "research from a life course perspective are still scarce" (Zartler

et al., 2015). The authors concluded that the constitution of family issues after separation can present challenges for all family members (Zartler et al., 2015). This study shares insight on how boundary issues can disrupt parental strategies post-divorce causing emotional cut-off and relation havoc in a blended family unit. Stressors relating to boundary issues can interfere with a school-aged child's school performance (King et al., 2015). Researchers van Eeden ☐ Moorefield and Malloy (2015) reviewed secondary data to examine the stepfamily members knowledge and their understanding of BFU formation, stepfamily member's relationships, stepfamily challenges as it relates to policy, practice, and the stepfamily's overall well-being. The authors examined decades of synthesized data on stepfamily formation, parenting and step parenting characteristics, boundary ambiguity, parent styles, and bidirectional effects. The author's findings revealed that family structural changes which requires children to create new biological relations (which demands sharing a biological parent/sibling with new non-biological family members) and new step-parent/sibling relations, promotes stress which negatively impact a child's cognitive performance and emotional stability (van Eeden-Moorefield & Malloy, 2015). van Eeden-Moorefield and Malloy (2015) asserted that as parents and children transition into new stepfamily relations, the inability of the child to feel a sense of stability may derive from a child's feeling of loss of loyalty for past biological family relations. It is those stressors which may interfere with the child's cognitive performance in their academic environments. This study also lends insight on the importance of seeking to understanding the complex challenges children experience post family

structure change. This study also lends insight on what causes internal stressors leading to emotional cut-off and a lower differentiation of self in school-aged children.

Blended Family Relations

DeGreef and Platt (2016) conducted a qualitative study to examine parental and child perceptions of familial relations. Findings from their study revealed that children in blended families often experienced stressful relational dilemmas because of feelings of competition and anger post the new blended family formation (DeGreef & Platt, 2016). The researchers asserted that the internal sad feelings regarding competition (among new family members) and anger (which stemmed from having to adjust to new living arrangements) experienced by children had a negative impact on a child's communal well-being (DeGreef & Platt, 2016). This study shares insight on how shifts in familial relations and stepparent implications can create a stressful home environment for schoolaged children. As a result, school-aged children could begin to internalize familial related challenges that develops into a lower sense of differentiation of self. According to researched findings, a child's lower differentiation of self can lead to emotional cut-off with heightened anger issues which can impact their overall well-being and filter into school settings (Jensen et al., 2018). Washington et al. (2017) conducted a quantitative study utilizing secondary data published between 2003-2014 to examine characteristics and the relationships relating to family functioning to see if there was a significant correlation to reported anxiety or depression in school-aged children (Washington et al., 2017). The authors findings revealed that there was a significant relationship between anxiety and depression in school-aged children who experienced heightened stressors

during family structure change. Findings also indicated that positive family functioning and a healthy environment were important factors in preventing anxiety and depression in African American school-aged children (Washington et al., 2017). This study lends to my study because the findings indicate that family functioning is important to a child's overall well-being. The authors also assert that there is a need for additional studies on African American families.

Impact of Family Structural Change

The following literature review provides past and more current insight into how the challenges of family structure change which end in blended families may lead to poor school performance relating to grades and negative behavior. Many risk factors have been identified which causes high anxiety in children who experience family structure change. For instance, findings from an early study by Buehler et al. (2009) revealed that family structural changes and marital conflict could produce high stressors which lead to anxiety in young children. The authors also asserted that marital conflict can subsequently interfere with the children's overall well-being. The researchers utilized a 4wave longitudinal research design to examine the impact that negative relational triangles could have on adolescents. Findings revealed that adolescent behavior problems were associated with negative familial triangles resulting from marital conflict and could interfere in pertinent areas of their early school years (Buehler et al, 2009). Two years later, researchers begin to take a closer look at the differences that family structure change had on children who experienced family structure change (FSC) versus those children who did not experience FSC. As an example, Sun and Li (2011) conducted a

quantitative study to compare the school performance of school-aged children who experienced negative family structural changes against the school performance of schoolaged children who did not endure such changes (Sun & Li, 2011). The authors examined secondary data collected on 8,008 children from the Early Childhood Learning Study-Kindergarten (ECLS-K). After a review of the data, the researchers found that children who were exposed to negative familial structural changes such as parental conflict and poor new family relations also had a lower sense of stability which negatively impacted their overall well-being. Sun and Li (2011) study revealed that the children were less able to manage stress was weaker when compared to children who did not endure heightened negative familial structural changes. This historical research lends insight into early studies on family structural changes and informs the study because it lends insight into how family structural change can induce stressors that promote a lower differentiation of self and emotional cutoff in African American school-age children residing in blended family units. As mentioned, school-aged children who endure heighten blended family stressors can have lower academic performance.

Child Outcomes

Now, more recent authors selected to examine the influenced family structure change had on child outcomes later in life. In fact, Lopoo and DeLeire (2014) used a quantitative approach to examine how family structure influenced child outcomes later in life. The authors examined variables such as school attainment and family structure to examine a child's school performance in areas such as behavior, grades, and social interactions. The authors findings indicated that family structure change during a child's

early years have an impact on their economic well-being and education during childhood. The findings also revealed that the overall well-being in adulthood is also impacted by family structural changes during childhood (Lopoo & DeLeire, 2014). Lopoo and DeLeire (2014) concluded that family structural change, during childhood, and the change in parental marital status which creates a blended family, can increase or lower children economic status. The authors asserted that if the family structure change lowers the children's economic status, there would be a significant relationship/impact on a child's behavior and overall school negative performance (Lopoo & DeLeire, 2014).

Impact on Children

From 2014-2015, through the examining of secondary data, a few authors chose to seek a better understanding of the impact family structure change has on children. For instance, researchers Ryan et al. (2014) conducted a quantitative study to determine how family structural changes affected outcomes for children. The researchers analyzed secondary data from the Children's National Longitudinal Survey of Youth (CNLSY), which included data on 3,936 children between the ages of 3-12 years who had experienced family structural changes and challenging cognitive behavior. The authors findings indicated that children who experienced family structural changes had poorer cognition and negative school behaviors (Ryan et al., 2014). This study informed my study on how stressors such as negative stepparent-stepchild relations and sibling positioning can hinder a child's academic performance and overall well-being in their new family unit. Now, King et al. (2015) conducted a quantitative study of 2,085 students in grades 7-12 to assess the children's sense of family belonging in homes parented by a

stepfather. Findings showed that some students who reported residing with a biological mother and non-biological parent experienced high levels of emotional distress, suicidal thoughts and behaviors and violence. Findings also indicated that teen sexual experiences; negative academic behaviors, such as poor attendance, negative behaviors, and use of cigarettes, alcohol, and marijuana where also behavioral issues resulting from a low sense of family belonging (King et al., 2015). This study lends insight to my study by revealing pertinent characteristic and predicators, such as, complex family dynamics. The complex challenges can cause stressors that negatively influence a child and lead to emotional cut-off and a lower differentiation of self-resulting in lower academic performance. Zeleznikow and Zeleznikow (2015) examined the complex family development issues which can exist in BFU's during blended family relationship building. Utilizing secondary data collected from case studies and their Survival Strategies Workshop, the authors found that the complex family development issues such as children learning to live with new siblings could interfere with the child's overall wellbeing during their early school years. Findings from their study also revealed that schoolaged students residing in blended family units were more-likely to experience truancy from school as a result of the complex challenges. This research informs my study because it shares insight on how complex parental relations such as boundary issues, discipline roles and inconsistent parenting techniques and strategies could lead to truancy among school-aged children in blended family households.

African American Blended Family Challenges

Brooks (2015) conducted a qualitative study to examine the impact in which family stepfamily structural change had on African American students in their college years. The author solicited nine females and five males attending Historically Black Universities to examine the student's perception of family structure, relations, and parental support (Brooks, 2015). Findings revealed that there was a significant relationship between African American students' perceptions of their family and academic outcomes with their new family unit (Brooks, 2015). The authors asserted that familial relations influenced academic persistence and outcomes (Brooks, 2015). This article is important to this study because it shares how family structural change impact African American students' (AAS) academic outcomes in later school years. This study also heightens the need for further studies on African America students who endure family structural change in earlier school years. As time passed, the study of family structure changes on young children advanced to include a more in-depth examination of the complex challenges in African American blended families and the impact on their children.

Factors Impacting AAS Education

In the United States, in 2015, it was reported that 40% of those living in a family unit had at least one non-biological family member residing in their household (Kumar, 2017). In the past, the birth of the blended family unit resulted from death of a spouse or divorce (Kumar, 2017). Researched findings indicated that African Americans have higher rates of blended families than other racial groups (Parker, 2011; Parker, 2015).

According to Lacewell (2016), the complex blended family parental role presented a greater challenge for African American blended family parents than that of White blended family parents (Lacewell, 2016). In 2016, Lacewell decided to examine parental roles in the general population of African American and its impact on their children's academics to study the achievement gap among African American students and European students. The author's focus was to gain a clearer understanding of the effects of parental roles and the gap in education attainment of African American students compared to European students (Lacewell, 2016). Lacewell utilize qualitative methods to gain insight on the African American's perception on the achievement gap of African American students to better understand factors which contribute to challenges endured by children residing in blended family units. To better understand the challenges, data was collected from 3 focus groups consisting of six to seven African American community members (Lacewell, 2016). Findings revealed that African American parental roles were different than that of European parental roles and family structure mattered and is important factors in African American student academic achievement (Lacewell, 2016). The author also asserted that according to study participants, family structure such as blended/stepfamilies and communal support matters in the academic performance of African American students (Lacewell, 2016). Lacewell concluded that further studies which address the factors impacting school-aged African American student's academic achievement has been overlooked, therefore, understudied (Lacewell, 2016). This study also lends insight on the need of future studies on factors impacting blended family school-aged African American students' and their academic engagement.

In 2016, Jensen and Pace; Bryant et al. (2016), also asserted that the majority of children who reside in a stepfamily were step-parented by a stepfather. The authors examined stepfamily stability and children's well-being to understand the importance of African American stepfather parental roles. To understand how stressors such as conflicting expectations, loyalty binds and step-parenting roles impact children, Jensen and Pace (2016) conducted their qualitative study using 467 mother-stepfather families. Their researched findings indicated that child-stepfather relations, in predominately low-income stepfamilies, could negatively or positively impact a stepchild's behavior in pertinent early social settings/relations and overall well-being (Jensen & Pace, 2016). Jensen and Pace's study informs my study by highlighting the need of more studies on the complex adjustments within African American stepfamilies and the impact complexity can have on an African American child's academic performance and overall well-being.

Understanding the need to gain insight on the challenges which are impacting African American blended parents and their children, it appears that in 2016, various researchers continued to elect to examine pertinent blended family risk factors to include stepfather-stepchild relations, blended family climate, academic self-regulation (ASR), and school performance. Statistical reports indicated that among racial groups, it is more likely for African American blended family parental formations to consist of biological mothers and stepfathers (Kogan et al., 2016). Census rereports indicated that living arrangement in America has drastically change for Americans with African American families having more challenges due to higher divorce rate than other cultures

(census.gov, 2019). Census reports also indicates out of the 11,101 Black children in the United States 5,069 children reside with mothers only, whereas 566 children reside with fathers only (census gov, 2019). These results suggest that remarriages among African American men and women are more likely to consist of blended family formations having more stepfathers than stepmothers (census gov, 2019). Past researchers took notice to African American male blended step-parental relation. For example, Bryant, Futris, Hicks, Lee, and Oshri (2016) examined the importance of stepfather-stepchild relations and its impact on a child's well-being. In both qualitative studies, the authors examined the stepfather's depressive levels to gain an understanding of factors which had a negative impact on a stepchild's stability and well-being in an African American stepfamily. The authors collected data from 149 newly married stepfathers to examine stepchild relations, stepfather depression and pertinent aspects of marital quality such as intimacy, marital activities, and communication (Bryant et al., 2016). Findings indicated that the quality of a child's overall well-being depended on the quality of the stepfather's perception of marital interactions with the biological parent (Bryant et al., 2016). The authors asserted that stepfathers play an important role on a child's perception of self and family. This research lends insight to my study as it contributes to the knowledge on how lower perceptions of family and or well-being could end in poorer academics endured by African American stepchildren because such stress can lead to a lower perception of family belonging among African American adolescents/students who experience family structural change that led to the child residing in a stepfamily (King & Boyd, 2016).

African American Students

Xia et al. (2016) conducted their quantitative study to examine the relationship between blended family climate, academic self-regulation, and school performance. The authors used a 5-point scale completed by the students to measure school attachment and feelings of school belonging. The authors suggested that the effects on children's academic performance were directly related to the distraction's adolescents endure relating to familial conflicts. The authors also suggested that ASR strongly depended on adolescent's perception of feelings of school belonging which were present in students who had higher levels of involvement in school activities and positive relations with teachers and peers. The authors reiterated that adolescents without feelings of school belonging and positive blended family climate were more likely to have a lower GPA (Xia et al., 2016). To measure the students' academic performance (AP), the authors used a 9-point scale to measure GPA reports solicited from parents (Xia et al., 2016). The findings revealed that continual negative relationships, within a child's blended family household environment, hindered the children's ability to adjust to their new family and to regulate self in their academic setting (Xia et al., 2016). This research informs my study because it shares insight on how family stressors in the blended family environment can interfere with a child's overall well-being, school performance, and academic selfregulation. Although pertinent literature on African American blended families had increased by 2016, it appears that there was a gap in literature which examine the chronic school absences in African American students as it relates to family structural change and its impact on African American students' education.

BFU Familial Stressors and the Impact on Education

Therefore, in 2017 it appears that the focus on African American students and their families attracted the interest of family researchers. In 2017, the initial concern/focus appeared to be on risk factors relating to behavioral issues among African American students, a child's perception of post-divorce, parental relations and familial stressors endured by school aged children. As an example, In Van Eck et al. (2017) qualitative study, the authors examined 25,776 middle and high school students from 106 schools to gain an understanding of why African American students K-12 were experiencing chronic behavioral problems in their academic settings Van Eck et al., 2017). Findings revealed that 89% of the 25,776 African American students experienced chronic absences due to school climate; however, the authors suggest that there may be another main factor such as a school-aged child's familial related perception of his/her home environment, therefore, advanced studies on African American school-aged children are warranted (Van Eck et al., 2017).

In 2017, researchers also took notice to the complexity in stepfamily formation and its overall impact on children. Researchers Havermans et al. (2017) selected to focused on children's perception of their post-divorce living arrangements after family structural change and how it impacted a child's academic self-regulation/school engagement. In their quantitative study, the authors examined secondary data from the Leuven Adolescent and Family Study to gain a better understanding of parent relations, stress, and the impact on school engagement. Findings revealed that pre and post-divorce conflict impacts a child's school engagement; and school engagement is not only linked

to academic achievement, but also to non-academic overall well-being outcomes leading to low self-esteem (Havermans et al., 2017). This study supports the need of further studies to understand the impact that the formation of blended family units can have on stepchildren's school engagement and overall academic performance.

Pre and Post Family Structure Change Challenges

Now, Jensen et al. (2017) also conducted a quantitative study to determine the level of stress on children and their parents during stepfamily formation. The authors analyzed data from the Stepfamily Experience Project and the US National Quota that contained data on 1139 adults/children. Findings revealed that children who had continued contact with non-resident parents had less stress than children who did not maintain regular contact with the non-resident parent (Jensen et al., 2017). Findings indicated that the absence of positive normal behaviors (where developmental milestones such as good social skills, cognition and age-appropriate behavior were met on time) were not present in some school-aged children who endured blended family formations. Therefore, negative behaviors which included poor social skills, decreased cognition and behavioral issues were linked to poor academic (Jensen et al., 2017). In their study, findings also showed that when children experienced close relationships with residential parents, both biological and stepparent, the children's stress levels were mitigated during the stepfamily formation process (Jensen et al., 2017). Moreover, the authors concluded that stress during stepfamily formation affects the children's overall well-being and is linked to poorer health and academic performance (Jensen et al., 2017). This research informed my study because it shares insight on family structure change during pre and

post family structure change challenges that children can experience that can lead to emotional cut-off in blended family units. As a result of the emotional cutoff, children can exhibit low academic performance.

Summary

Research findings revealed that because of the high divorce rates, BFU's are becoming more common (Roehlkepartain & Syvertsen, 2014). Research findings also reveal that family structural changes, which result in a BFU, can negatively impact a child's overall behavior during the transitioning into a blended family unit (Lee & McLanahan, 2015). Bowen's family system theory was introduced as a guide to utilize during this research. Literature related to key constructs were reviewed to obtain a broad universal understanding of challenges experienced due to family structural changes. A historical study on African American family structural changes and outcomes for children was presented in this review. In addition, an overview of current African American blended family structural changes was reviewed to gain a better understanding of the characteristics of family functioning in African American blended family environments. Currently, the stress spillover into African American stepfamily challenges and the impact on African American school aged children has been understudied (Barton et al., 2018). Researched findings indicated that a child's ability to adjust to post divorce living arrangements is an important indicator of the child's ability to adjust to stepfamily dyads and internalize and externalize blended family challenges which can lead to poorer school engagements (Jensen et al., 2018). According to researched findings, there is an extensive

need for studies which examine the association among African American families and their children's academic achievement (Browne & Battle, 2018).

Although there was a gap in literature on African American blended families; and parental strategies used to mitigate the impact that family structural changes can have on their children's school performance, I utilized universal step-parenting researched findings indicating complex familial stressors/challenges for this literature review. I also utilized literature which revealed data on how family structural changes can negatively impact a child who experienced family structural changes which lead to the formation of blended family unit. The eight concepts in Bowen's family systems theory were introduced as a theory that was used to guide this research. The purpose of this study is to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact that family structural changes had on their child's school performance. In the following Chapter (3), I explain the research design and methodology for this study.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families use to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance. In this chapter, I describe the qualitative research method selected for this study. I also discuss the rationale for selecting the research design, the role of the researcher, and the methodology that was used in this study. Next, I discuss the population of interest, the sampling strategy, the participant criteria, and procedures for determining whether participants met that criteria for participation. The rationale for the number of participants to be recruited is discussed. The means for enhancing saturation and sample size is explained. I then describe instrumentation, the procedures for recruitment, data collection, and data analysis. The techniques that were used to enhance trustworthiness are also addressed. Last, this chapter discusses the ethical concerns that were addressed in this study.

Research Design and Rationale

The research question that was used to guide this research was: What strategies did African American parents in blended family units adopt to lessen the impact of family structural changes on their children' school performance?

This study was predicated upon a generic qualitative design. Aagaard and Matthiesen (2016) asserted that qualitative methods are used to capture personalized experiences and perceptions. Aveling et al. (2015) asserted that qualitative methodologies allow researchers to obtain multiple perspectives from participants on a

given phenomenon. Utilizing a qualitative approach in this study allowed me to collect data on the subjective and interpersonal perspectives of participants (Levitt, 2016).

Kahlke (2014) asserted that the generic qualitative method is not governed by clear set of theoretical assumptions. Therefore, the generic qualitative approach allows a researcher to use various means of data collection to obtain data that can in turn be used to describe participants' perceptions, views, and values of a phenomenon (Kahlke, 2014). I selected a generic qualitative methodology for this research because it allowed me to obtain rich information about what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact that family structure changes had on their children's school performance.

I also considered other methods of qualitative inquiry such as ethnographic inquiry, grounded theory, and narrative inquiry for this study. An ethnographic study is used to study a phenomenon within a culture and would therefore focus more on observing patterns of behaviors of a group/culture (Crampton, 2015). Ethnographic inquiry was not selected for this study because data for this study came from individual parent reports of strategies that used to improve their children's school performance. The grounded theory methodology is used to initiate or develop a new theory (Lawrence & Tar, 2013). Grounded theory was not chosen for this research because the purpose of this is not theory building. Narrative studies require researchers to interpret narratives provided by study participants (Loh, 2013). Although narrative inquiry may potentially reveal pertinent data on familial dilemmas endured by children, the experiences shared by participants would require researcher interpretation, which could increase the possibility

of researcher biases while transcribing and analyzing the collected data (Levitt, 2016). In addition, narrative inquiry is considered to be a personalized account of experiences where a participant represents themselves (Levitt, 2016). In this study, although the children were the main focus of this study, they did not participate in the study because the parents represented their BFU as a whole and shared pertinent data on the school-age children in their household. Therefore, a narrative approach was not selected for this study because the school-aged children did not have an opportunity to share their perceived narratives of how the structural changes of becoming part of a BFU affected their school performance. The final method of qualitative inquiry considered for this research was the case study. A case study usually focuses on a single individual, organization, event, program, process, or a specific and uniquely bounded system (Bugge et al., 2017). Although a blended family system could be considered a uniquely bounded system, this method of inquiry was inappropriate for guiding this research because the focus of this study was on the parents' shared perceptions of how African American blended family dilemmas can negatively impact school-age children.

According to Kim-Spoon, Maciejewski and Grimm (2019) quantitative research methods are used to gather statistical data to quantify a perceived problem. Although both qualitative and quantitative research methods allow the use of surveys or face-to-face interviews, quantitative means require larger samples, and can be cross sectional. Whereas qualitative research methods require smaller samples in order to gather rich descriptions of a phenomenon from participants (Kim-Spoon et al., 2019). Therefore, a quantitative approach would not be suitable for conducting this study because it is used to

test numerical data and/or to find correlations; whereas, in this study I sought to gather information to describe individualized human experiences.

Role of the Researcher

A researcher in a given study can serve in different roles such as interviewer, observer, and observer participant (Chenail, 2011). My role in this study was interviewer-observer. I obtained data by conducting interviews with participants. According to Berger (2015), it is important that researchers are mindful of any biases that they may have regarding the phenomenon or topic which is the focus of the research. Therefore, I was sure to bracket my personal experiences of residing in a BFU as a biological and non-biological parent with school-age children who presented with school performance issues relating to poor grades and negative behaviors. Past researchers have suggested that there are several techniques that can be used to minimize research bias. Some recommended techniques for minimizing researcher bias in qualitative studies includes reflexivity, bracketing, and peer debriefing (Astedt et al., 2015; Foster et al., 2018; Peters & Halcomb, 2015; Sorsa, 2015). In this study, I used reflexivity, bracketing, and peer debriefing to manage researcher bias.

Darawsheh (2014) asserted that reflexivity in research is a continual self-monitoring strategy used by researchers which improves transparency, validity, and credibility in a study. Reflexivity can be used as a guide to help a researcher build self-awareness of personal feelings and bias throughout the study (Darawsheh, 2014). Therefore, during the interview data collection process, and during the data analysis process of the study, I conducted continual self-reflection by monitoring self-implicit and

explicit biases. During the self-checks, I monitored items such as preconceived conclusions regarding parental strategies and best practice and societal inherited preconceived notions regarding challenged stepchildren.

Throughout the study, I also used bracketing which required me to monitor my own presuppositions about BFUs. I was also aware of my own personal biases and influences on the participant response (Peters & Halcomb, 2015). Bracketing is defined as a tool used to ensure descriptions of participants' experiences surrounding the phenomenon under study are documented without any distortions (Sorsa et. al., 2015). Bracketing also requires researchers to be nonjudgmental by acknowledging any previous experiences they may have had with the phenomenon to be researched (Sorsa et al., 2015). Sorsa et al. (2015) reiterated that bracketing should be initiated early during the research planning phase and not just while collecting and/or transcribing data. Bracketing consisted of the researcher declaring all bias about the phenomenon and recalling and noting all preconceive opinions regarding the phenomenon so that I was more likely to notice if my personal thoughts during data analysis are not being injected into the data analysis process.

Peer debriefing is another technique used to enhance rigor, validity, and credibility in a study (Hoover et. al., 2018). To minimize researcher bias through the use of peer or expert debriefing, I sought expert reviews during pertinent phases of the study (Sorsa et. al., 2015). For example, I checked-in with my dissertation committee during the pre-planning phase of the study. My dissertation committee was asked to conduct a final review of the plans for the proposed study. I also initiated expert reviews with my

dissertation committee after data has been coded and transcribed. Lastly, before submitting my final report for dissertation approval, a final copy of the dissertation was forwarded to my dissertation committed for peer debriefing so that they can conduct the expert review.

I did not have any personal or professional relations with participants who are recruited for the study. In addition, I did not solicit participants from subordinates in my current workplace. Moreover, I did not share any personal thoughts and/or make any verbal or nonverbal comments or gestures while engaged in the data collection process with study participants. If, at any time, I believed that I had violated my role as researcher, I would have terminated the interview and discard the collected data.

Methodology

Participant Selection Logic

Participants for this study were African American parents living in blended family units and residing in the Central West Florida area. The inclusion criteria for participants was as follows: a) participants must reside in the blended family home; b) participants must be a partner in a married, heterosexual relationship for a minimum of 1 year and a maximum of 5 years, which would have allowed ample time for participants to have experienced blended familial related challenges that may have interfered with a schoolaged child's school performance; and c) one or more of the school-aged children in the blended family unit must be enrolled in school where they have experienced or are currently experiencing poor school performance such as poor grades and negative behaviors after experiencing a family structural change. To determine whether those who

respond to the call for participants meet the inclusion criteria, they were asked to answer several questions during the initial prescreening process. See Appendix A for a list of the questions that were used to screen participants to determine whether they meet the criteria for participation.

Sampling Strategy

Purposeful sampling and snowball sampling were used to recruit participants for this study. Purposeful sampling is used to recruit participants with common experiences regarding a phenomenon of interest in a study (Palinkas et al., 2015). Green, Wisdom, and Duan (2015) noted that purposeful sampling is also used to identify a specific group of people, whereas snowball sampling occurs when participants in a study solicit others with similar experience for the study. Therefore, purposeful sampling was an appropriate strategy for recruiting African American parents in blended families who could provide information about the strategies they used to mitigate the impact that family structure change had on their children's school performance. Snowball sampling is highly probable in this study because of the nature of the study as it was proposed. According to Griffith et al. (2015) snowball sampling occurs when study participants recruit and refer friends for the study that meet the inclusion criteria.

Sample Size

Boddy (2016) asserted that when a qualitative study is being conducted with a homogenous population of individuals, a sample size of 12 or fewer participants would be an appropriate sample size to potentially reach saturation of data. While deciding on the number of participants to interview during this study, it was also important to

consider the phenomenon of interest and the number of participants needed to provide rich personalize data/experiences on the phenomenon to be studied (Malterud et al., 2015). Reaching saturation means that one has exhausted the data to a point where no additional knowledge can be obtained from the data being collected or analyzed (Boddy, 2016). For this study, I anticipated recruiting a sample size of 15 African American parents from areas of Central West Florida who meet the inclusion criteria for participating. The rationale behind recruiting 15 African American blended family parents is to have enough participants to reach saturation of data (Hennink et al., 2017).

Instrumentation

Canals (2017) asserted that instruments used to gather data in a qualitative study should be based on the type of research questions and the objectives to be met within the study. There are several methods for collecting data in qualitative studies such as interviews, narratives, questionnaires, and recorded observations (Canals, 2017).

According to Bevan (2014), when seeking to understand a phenomenon, open-ended semi-structured interview questions can be utilized to collect data from participants. In this study, data was collected using semi-structured interviews. The data was audio recorded with participant permission, to ensure accuracy of participant's response. Based on the purpose and research question in this study, I have developed a general list of open-ended questions to guide the interviews. A list of the interview questions is included in Appendix B. To establish content validity in this study, I ensured that all research questions are relevant to the phenomena to be studied. One technique to be utilized to

enhance content validity is to request my dissertation committee to conduct an expert review of research interview questions.

Procedures for Recruiting Participant

After obtaining IRB approval from Walden University to conduct the proposed research, I began the participant recruiting process. Simultaneously, I recruited via social media and neighborhood online groups such as www.nextdoor.com. In addition, I recruited participants through the local newspaper and through local community television advertisements. The advertisements were posted as a public service notice on the local community network. See Appendix C for a copy of the recruitment script that was aired and printed. The same printed materials were placed in neighborhood community centers, churches, and other public places where families visit. The advertisements provided information on how potential participants can contact me via telephone to leave a message expressing their interest to participate in the research.

Additional mediums which were used as an alternative is Facebook, Twitter, and IG.

Possible participants were prescreened via telephone by the researcher. During the telephone prescreening call, participants were asked to respond to the prescreening questions. After I had verified individual eligibility to participate, I asked potential participants to give three dates and times in which they could meet with me face-to-face, in a private meeting room at the local library, for a more in-depth interview. If meeting face-to-face presents a challenge for participants, meetings via Video chat were used as an alternative.

Data Collection

During the data collection process, I conducted interviews to obtain data from African American parents in blended families to determine the strategies African American blended family parents used to mitigate the impact that family structure change had on children and their school performance. To obtain accurate representation of the data collected from participants during interviews, I obtained permission from participants to audio record the interviews. To implement and audit trail, I audio recorded all interview sessions where permission was given, maintain detailed notes of the study process, and maintain a self-reflective journal. Details on the audit trail process are explained in detail later in this chapter.

Interviews

Data collection consisted of one session of 30 - 60 minutes. All interviews were conducted face to face, whereas video chat was utilized if needed. The individual interviews were conducted during 30 – 60-minute session in a private room at a library convenient for study participants. During the interviews, participants may become stressed or hesitant to respond to certain interview questions. If a participant becomes stressed or upset, I halted the interview and give the person a chance to compose themselves. Then I asked any stressed participant/s if they would like to continue the interview. If the participant cannot continue, I ended the interview. If a participant should become emotionally upset during the interview, a referral to BCOTB Brandon was made free of charge. Participants were only asked to participate in answering follow-up questions if clarity was needed on previously answered questions.

At the beginning of each interview, I explained the nature of the study, and the participants were given the opportunity to present any questions/concerns they may have about their participation in the research. Next, I went over the high points of the consent form before asking the participants to review on their own and sign. Consent forms were signed before study participation is allowed. After the consent forms have been signed, participants were given a copy of their signed consent form for their records.

If a participant failed to follow through with a scheduled meeting, I made three attempts to reschedule the interview. If the rescheduling process was unsuccessful, other eligible persons were contacted via telephone and asked if they are still interested in participating in the study. The participant/s who agree to participate were asked to complete all procedures involved in the participant selection process. The initial meeting was the only scheduled physical contacts with participants. If additional contact was needed for clarity of collected interview data, it took place via telephone. The individual interviews lasted approximately 30 - 60 minute. Throughout the data collection process, participants were reminded that they can opt out of participating in the study at any time. I audio taped and transcribed all interviews. I also ensured that all recordings and files are kept confidential and secured by a locking mechanism or password protected device in a private location.

Audio-Recording

I audio recorded all interviews. After obtaining participant consent to audio tape their interviews, I placed a handheld voice recorder on a table between myself and the participant for the duration of the interview. At the beginning of the recording process, I

verbally identified date and time, self, and the participant's unique identification coder for this study. As an example, each participant was assigned a unique pseudonym to match transcripts to participants during member checking. In addition, I also solicit/record a verbal agreement from participants at the beginning of each recorded interview session. At the end of each recorded interview session, I exited the recording by ending with "This is the end of interview with (fictitious name) and current time.

Exit Strategy

Participants were able to exit the interview process at any time. I ended the sessions by giving each participant a Thank You card and a \$25 Walmart Visa card for their time involved in the study process. I asked each participant if he or she has any questions or concerns about the research. If a participant appeared distraught as a result of participating in the study, I referred them to BCOTB Brandon where they can seek formal blended family counseling free of charge.

If a follow-up with participants were needed, it was conducted via telephone. Where additional meetings were needed, it was executed in the same manner where the initial meetings took place. Once the final review of notes obtained during the interview process were conducted, if clarity was still needed, I contacted participants via telephone or by email to request a member-check on data.

Audit Trail

Krippendorf (2012) recommended that researchers should create files on research participants to keep the data organize for each participant. The file folders facilitated the data analysis process. To protect the privacy of study participants, I created an

unidentifiable file for each participant in which I was the only person that can connect the file with the study participant. The purpose of the file(s) was to keep all collected data from each interview in one central location. The files include the following hard copy documentation:

- Consent form
- Notes from each interview
- Any notes made during data analysis.
- Draft of interview transcript.
- Any correspondence from the parents about the accuracy of the data.
- Any general correspondence between me and the study participants.
- Observation notes: what happened during the interview
- Reflective notes: derives meaning as the researcher thinks and reflects on the process
- Methodological notes: reviewing techniques of the researcher
- Analytical memos: summaries and progress notes.

All collected data was stored on the researcher's laptop. The laptop was password protected and stored in a secure location in my home office when not in use. When collecting data using legal pads all handwritten notes were kept in a handheld file case with locking mechanism.

Data Analysis Plan

I used an inductive approach data to extract categories of ideas and relevant themes and categories while analyzing the raw data. Specifically, I used Colaizzi's 7-step

method to analyze the data collected from the face-to-face interviews. Colaizzi (1978) shared that to detect significant statements from study participants regarding a specific phenomenon, the following seven steps to data analysis should be considered. I provided a detailed discussion of actions that were taken in each step of the data analysis.

Step 1: Familiarization. I read each transcript several times to gain a sense of participant's responses to the interview questions. During this stage, I bracketed in my reflexive journal any thoughts, feelings, and preconceived notions about the data because of previous experiences of being in a blended family unit.

Step 2: In this stage of analysis, significant statements and phrases pertaining to BFU parenting strategies, BFU dilemmas and poor school performance such as poor grades and negative behavior exhibited by the school-age children in the home were extracted from each transcript; color coded and numbered. The color-coded statements were written on separate sheets and logged based on their transcript, page, and line numbers.

Step 3: Meanings were formulated from the significant statements. Each underlying meaning pertinent to the phenomenon to be examined was separated and color coded into categories as they reflect an exhaustive description. Researcher compared the formulated meanings with the original meanings in an effort to maintain the consistency of descriptions.

Step 4: The process of grouping all formulated meanings into categories that reflect a unique structure or cluster of ideas were grouped together so that themes can be formulated. Each cluster of themes were coded to include all formulated meanings related

to the cluster of themes. After that, groups of clusters of themes that reflect a particular dilemma and outcome were incorporated together to form higher order themes or metathemes. Next, researcher compared clusters of themes and checked the accuracy to ensure that formulated meanings have been placed in the proper cluster of themes. Lastly, I sought assistance from an expert researcher in qualitative research.

Step 5: During this stage of analysis, all themes were classified into an exhaustive description. After the development of an exhaustive description all themes, themes pertinent to the research question "What strategies do African American parents in blended families adopt to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance" was extracted. Next, I initiated a review of the findings to evaluate the level of richness, completeness, and that a sufficient description was provided. During the review, I also confirmed that the exhaustive description reflects the perceptions of African American BFU participants, and the parenting strategies used to mitigate the impact of family structure change on African American school-aged children.

Step six: In this step, to emphasize on the fundamental structure, a reduction of findings was done in which redundant, misused, or overestimated descriptions were eliminated from the overall structure. New descriptions were applied to generate clear relationships between clusters of themes and their extracted themes. This included eliminating some ambiguous structures that could weaken the whole description of the findings.

Step seven: This step involved validation of the findings using the "member checking" technique. I returned pertinent portions of the research findings to the participants in a secured pdf file via email and discuss the results with them. Participants' views on the study results were obtained via email or via phone calls. However, if another meeting with participants was needed, it took place in the same location as the initial interview meeting. This step was done by the researcher only.

To assist with the data analysis process, I utilized Microsoft Office to organize data and assist in the coding process. I used open/axial coding and selective coding to analyze data at varying levels (Nowell et. al., 2017). Selective coding was utilized in step 2 of the seven-step process of Colaizzi's 7-step method of analysis. Open coding was used during the 3rd step and Axial coding was utilized during the 4th step of Colaizzi's 7-step method.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Quality and trustworthiness in data are essential in all studies (Levitt, 2016). Nowell et al. (2017) noted that it is important to demonstrate to readers that the data collection and analysis were conducted in a precise and exhaustive manner. Because researchers who conduct qualitative studies do not use metrics to establish validity and/or reliability, the researchers must establish trustworthiness in qualitative studies by addressing the concepts of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Nowell et.al., 2017).

Credibility

Stewart et al.(2017) asserted that credibility is the assessment of researcher findings to ensure data is a true interpretation of collected data. Levitt (2016) asserted that member checking, reflexivity, and peer-debriefing are a few checking processes that can be used to establish credibility and trustworthiness in qualitative research. In this study I used member checking, reflexivity, and audit trail to enhance the credibility of the findings from this research (Birt et al., 2016). In this study, to enhance trustworthiness, member checking allowed participants to review transcriptions of their interviews and was initiated by the researcher during the interview process and at the end of the data analysis process. At the end of the data analysis process, each participant was emailed, via pdf, their transcribed data so that they can validate its accuracy (Birt et al., 2016).

Reflexivity is important in qualitative research because it lessens the impact of researcher bias within the study (Stewart et al., 2017). Reflexivity also requires the researcher to be self-conscious of all actions, behaviors, and personal biases during the study. Reflexivity requires a researcher to acknowledge, recall and understand pre-exposure to the phenomenon to be studied (Stewart et. al., 2017). To enhance reflexivity in this and to reduce the impact of personal bias I journaled my reactions to participant response. I also took detailed notes of all observations throughout the study. In addition, to improve credibility, I requested committee member debriefing.

Another method I used to enhance confirmability is an audit-trail. Stewart et al. (2017) suggested that an audit trail is created when the researcher keeps detailed records of the entire research process. To implement an audit-trail, in this study, I maintained

detailed step-by-step accounts of the entire data collection process. Items which were included in the audit trail consisted of, times and dates of interviews, interview notes on participant participation during interviews and detailed characteristics of the study.

Additional details of the items that were a part of the audit trail are outlined in the section of this chapter labeled audit trail.

Transferability

Transferability is achieved when external readers/viewers can associate findings from a study with their own research or intended research (Connelly, 2016). To enhance transferability of the results from this study, I used an audit trail, thick rich descriptions of the collected data, and purposeful sampling. Connelly (2016) proposed that to enhance transferability of findings from a study, researchers should keep track of all steps taken so that they can document a vivid picture of the research process. The details of the audit trail have been presented earlier in this chapter. Green et. al. (2015) asserted that purposeful sample is a method that can be used to enhance transferability of a study. Purposeful sampling is used to identify a specific group of individuals who are knowledgeable about the phenomenon under study (Green et. al., 2015). In this study, during the participant selection process, I selected African American BFU parents who meet the participation criteria for this study.

Dependability

Birt et al. (2016) noted that dependability is defined as the stability of findings over a period of time. Nowell et. al. (2017) explained that dependability is achieved in a study when the data is logical, traceable, and clearly documented. A technique that was

utilized to ensure dependability is member checking (Nowell et. al., 2017). Birt et al. (2016) asserted that member checking consists of returning all transcribed data back to the participants for respondent validation. To implement member checking in this study, after the data analysis has been completed, I asked participants to review the transcribed data to check for accuracy of shared response. In addition to member checking, triangulation of collected data was used to enhance dependability. Researched findings revealed that triangulation is a means of examining research data by an examination of multiple sources with the study (Nowell et. al., 2017). Triangulation was conducted at the end of the data analysis process in Chapter 5. In Chapter 5, I compared all notes accumulated from interviews and observations (Nowell et al., 2017).

Confirmability

Confirmability is an approach to establish trustworthiness and rigor in a study and is met when the study can be confirmed by other researchers (Connelly, 2016). Connelly (2016) asserted that confirmability of interpretations and findings is achieved by using methods such as an audit-trail, triangulation, reflexivity and/or peer-debriefing. In my study, reflexivity, audit-trail, and triangulation were used to promote confirmability. Nowell et al. (2017) asserted that to ensure confirmability researchers must ensure that interpretations of data are without bias. In this study, researcher reflexivity was utilized to accomplish confirmability. In a qualitative study, reflexivity can be achieved by researchers recognizing self's ontology. This requires one to be knowledgeable of personal experiences and positioning on the topic to be studied (Nowell et al., 2017). In this study, I utilized a reflective journal to note pass experiences and be aware of personal

bias. This increased my ability to gain an understanding of participant views and or opinions without personal biases. The reflexive journal was referenced throughout the study to ensure bracketing, and reflexivity is achieved. Another method I used to ensure confirmability is an audit-trail. I implemented the same audit trail process described in the section on credibility to establish dependability.

Ethical Procedures

I did not recruit potential participants until after I have received proposal approval from Walden University's IRB. To ensure fair treatment of human participants, I have obtained a National Institutes of Health (NIH) Human Subjects Protection certification.

In addition, this research design and interview questions were peer-reviewed by the IRB during the proposal approval process. Participation in this study was voluntary.

Participants who fully completed the study was offered a \$25 gift card as a "Thank you" for participating in the interviewing process. All participants were informed in writing of the length of the study and their rights to confidentiality. To ensure participant confidentiality, all personal identifiers, such as, names, dates, and/or locations of participant residence were omitted from participant contact information sheet and replaced with unidentifiable labeling. To maintain privacy throughout the study, participants were identified only as BFU 1-15. During initial contact with prospective participants, participant expectations, researcher's role in the study, and the purpose of the study was shared by the researcher. During the initial contact, the participants were informed that if they are selected for the study, before participating in the study, they were required to review and sign the Consent form located in Appendix E.

To ensure security of data, only the researcher and committee members have access to raw and/or transcribed data. All data was secured in a locked file cabinet in the researcher's home office along with any audio tape recordings of the individual interviews for a minimum of 5 years. Data transported from one location to another was secured in a locked portable file case while in public areas. To make certain the well-being of all study participants is safeguarded throughout the study, all participants were reminded that their participation is voluntary and that all discussions are confidential.

Summary

This chapter described the generic qualitative approach that was used to examine the strategies used by African American blended family parents to lessen the impact that family structural change had on their children. This chapter highlighted the research rationale for selecting the research design. The role of the researcher was also addressed in this chapter. In the methodology section of this chapter, population, sampling strategy, participant criteria, how participants are known to meet the criteria, and how the rational for the number of participants selected were identified. In addition, specific procedures for how participants were identified, contacted, and recruited were clarified. Clarification of data collection, data analysis strategies were also provided in this chapter. Procedures to establish to issues of trustworthiness, which included credibility, transferability, dependability, and conformability were addressed. Ethical issues were also identified in this chapter which addressed myriads of ways Walden University's IRB would assist in protecting participants during the study. The findings of this study are presented in Chapter 4 and the interpretation and discussion follows in Chapter 5.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this study was to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact of family structural changes on their children's school performance. The research question that guided this study was: What strategies do African American parents in blended family units adopt to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance? In this chapter, the setting, participant demographics, data collection process, data analysis process, and evidence of trustworthiness will be described. In addition, the results of the study are presented, followed by a summary.

Settings

There were no personal or organizational conditions which influenced participant's reporting on issues with their school-aged children's school performance. In addition, there were no personal or organizational conditions presented by participants which influenced their participation in the study. Participants were able to complete their individual interviews via Facetime and telephone.

Demographic

Data were collected from participants who had one or more school-age children who had previously exhibited poor school performance after entering into a BFU. Table 1 shows the demographic background information of the participants. Five of the participants were females and three were males. The age range of participants was between 30-49 years. Results showed five participants were employed and three were unemployed at the time of the interview.

 Table 1

 Demographic Information for Participants

Participant	Sex	Age	Employment Status
1	Female	30-39	Employed
2	Female	40-49	Unemployed
3	Female	30-39	Employed
6	Male	30-39	Unemployed
10	Female	30-39	Unemployed
11	Male	30-39	Employed
12	Female	30-39	Employed
13	Male	30-39	Employed

Data Collection

Data was collected from individuals during facetime and telephone interviews that lasted between 30-60 minutes. The interviews were recorded via computer. The only change in data collection was due to the Coronavirus pandemic. Instead of holding faceto-face interviews with study participants, the interviews were held via facetime on the computer and or telephone. In addition, a \$25.00 gift card was mailed to participants after their telephone interviews instead on being given at the end of a face-to-face interviews.

Data Analysis

Colaizzi's seven step method was used to analyze the data. I used an inductive approach to extract categories of ideas and determine the emergent themes. The first step of the data analysis was familiarization. In this step, I familiarized myself with the data by reading through all the transcripts of the interviews' multiple times. In the second step,

I separated all statements in the transcripts that were significant to the phenomenon under investigation. Next, I separated, and color coded into categories of ideas and statements related to the phenomenon of interest. In the fourth step which is clustering, I grouped related statements into clusters that were common across all participant responses to an interview question. Each cluster of ideas were analyzed to formulate meanings among the clusters of ideas. After that, groups of clusters of ideas were combined to form higher order themes or meta-themes. I then reviewed and compared the themes to reduce redundancy and duplicate themes compared the themes. Next, I sought assistance from an expert in qualitative research. In the fifth step which was to develop an exhaustive description, I wrote a detailed and inclusive description of the phenomenon by incorporating all the themes to answer the research question: What strategies do African American parents in blended families adopt to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance?

I used Microsoft Word Tables to organize the data and to facilitate the coding process. I also used open/axial coding and selective coding to analyze data at varying levels (Nowell et. al., 2017). Open coding was used during the third step and Axial coding was utilized during the fourth step of Colaizzi's seven-step method.

The final step of Colaizzi's seven step process of data analysis, is seeking verification of the fundamental structure. This step involved validation of the findings by using the member checking technique. I returned a summary of the findings to the participants in a secured pdf file for member checking via email for their review and

validation. After the participants reviewed their individual responses of the transcribed data, no modifications to the transcribed data were needed according to participants.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

Quality and trustworthiness in data are essential in all research (Levitt (2016). Nowell et al. (2017) noted that it is important to demonstrate to readers that the data collection and analysis were conducted in a precise and exhaustive manner. Because researchers who conduct qualitative studies do not use metrics to establish validity and/or reliability, the researchers must establish trustworthiness in qualitative studies by addressing the concepts of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Nowell et al., 2017).

Credibility

Stewart et al. (2017) asserted that credibility is achieved when a researcher's interpretations of data collected from participants accurately reflect participant comments. I conducted a transcript review to enhance the credibility of the findings from this study. The transcript review allowed participants to review transcriptions of their interviews before the data was analyzed and summarized. At the end of the data analysis process, each participant was emailed a pdf of their transcribed data so that they could validate whether the transcript accurately reflected their comments during the interview (Birt et al., 2016). Participants had 24 hours to notify me of any changes and or clarity needed. If either were needed, participants were asked to notify researcher via telephone. During this process, no changes to the transcripts were requested.

Another method I used to enhance credibility was the audit trail. Stewart et al. (2017) suggested that an audit trail is created when the researcher keeps detailed records of the entire research process. To implement an audit-trail, in this study, I maintained detailed step-by-step accounts of the entire data collection process. Items which were included in the audit trail consisted of the procedures used to collect and transcribe data such as audio recordings, documents outlining Colaizzi's seven step data collection process and recruitment criteria such as pre and post interview questions. Purpose of study notifications (to ensure the participants were informed of the type of study) and consent forms were also included in the audit trail. In addition, times and dates of interviews, interview notes and detailed characteristics of the study were included in the audit trail.

Transferability

Transferability is achieved when external readers/viewers can associate findings from a study with their own research or intended research (Connelly, 2016). To enhance transferability of the results from this study, I used an audit trail, thick rich descriptions of the collected data, and purposeful sampling. To implement an audit-trail, in this study, I maintained detailed step-by-step accounts of the entire data collection process. Items which were included in the audit trail which enabled a thick rich description of the collected data have been presented earlier in this chapter under the credibility section. Green et al. (2015) asserted that purposeful sample is a method that can be used to enhance transferability of a study. Purposeful sampling is used to identify a specific group of individuals who are knowledgeable about the phenomenon under study (Green

et al., 2015). In this study, to implement purposeful sampling, during the participant selection process, I recruited African American parents of BFUs who met the following inclusion criteria for participating in this study as outlined in Chapter 3.

Dependability

Nowell et. al. (2017) explained that dependability is achieved in a study when the data is logical, traceable, and clearly documented. A technique that was utilized to ensure dependability is member checking. Birt et al. (2016) asserted that member checking consists of returning all transcribed data to participants for review. In this study, as noted, I returned a summary of the findings to the participants in a secured pdf file for member checking via email for their review and valid. Participants' views regarding the findings captured their experiences as a blended family parent parenting a school-aged with school performance issues were obtained via email and via phone calls. In addition to member checking, triangulation of collected data was used to enhance dependability. In Chapter 5, I compared all notes accumulated from interviews and observations (Nowell et al., 2017). In this study, I triangled interview question topics, prominent themes produced from responses, and subthemes, which described parental actions/steps, to develop an interpretation of findings relative to the literature in Chapter 2 of this study. To describe the relations between the findings in the study and theoretical concepts within Bowens family systems theory, I triangled Bowens eight concepts, parent interview questions and parent reported strategies to develop an interpretation of findings. A triangulation of data consisting of handwritten notes from each interview, reflective notes and transcribed data was conducted at the end of the data analysis process in Chapter 5.

Confirmability

Connelly (2016) asserted that confirmability of interpretations and findings is achieved by using methods such as an audit-trail, triangulation, reflexivity and/or peerdebriefing. In this study, reflexivity, audit-trail, and triangulation were utilized to promote confirmability. Nowell et al. (2017) asserted that to ensure confirmability researchers must ensure that interpretations of data are without bias. In a qualitative study, reflexivity can be achieved by researchers recognizing their own ontology. This requires they be knowledgeable of personal experiences and positioning on the topic to be studied (Nowell et al., 2017). In this study, I utilized a reflective journal to note past experiences and be aware of personal biases. This increased my ability to gain an understanding of participant views and/or opinions without personal bias. During this study, I noted any personal thoughts and opinions that presented during each interview with the participants. Then as needed, during the transcribing of data, I could review the journal to ensure that my own personal bias was not included. The reflexive journal was referenced throughout the study to ensure bracketing, and reflexivity were achieved. Another method I used to ensure confirmability is an audit-trail. I implemented the same audit trail process described in the section on credibility to establish dependability.

Results

Participants in this study represented a sample of African American parents from blended family units. Table 2 presents background information on the blended family units. Results show that across the eight participants, single mothers with biological children were the most common initial family structure that changed after a blended

family unit was formed. However, stepfathers who entered the family unit during the family structural change brought 1-3 biological children into the blended family unit. Participants reported being married between 2 to 6 years. Participants reported having one to five children in the BFU. Males were the predominant gender of the children with school performance issues. The school-aged children who were noted to have school performance issues were between the ages of 6 and 12 years old.

Table 2

Blended Family Background

D4: -:4	T., :4: -1	F:1	V	NI1	C 1	A CO1-:1.1
Participant	Initial	Family	Years	Number	Gender	Age of Child
	Family	Structure	in	of	of child	with School
	Structure	Change	blended	children	with	Issues (years)
			family	in home	school	
					issues	
1	Mother	Stepfather	5	2	Male	9
	and son	and son				
2	Single	Stepfather	2	3	Male	9
	woman	and three				
		children				
3	Mother	Stepfather	5	5	Male	6
	and four	and son				
	children					
6	Father	Stepmom	4	3	Male	8
	and son	and two				
		sons				
10	Mother	Stepfather	2	3	Female	7
-	and two	and				
	children	daughter				
11	Father	Stepmom	6	2	Male	9
11	and son	with	Ü	_	111410	
	and son	stepson				
12	Single	Father and	3yr	1	Female	12
1 4	woman	daughter	5mo	1	1 Ciliaic	1 2
13	Father	Stepmother	3	1	Female	12
13	and	with no	3	1	remate	1 4
-	daughter	children				

Table 3 presents background information related to the changes in the child's school performance issues. Data in the table reveals that most families began to see changes in the child's school performance within 1 year of the family structural change. All families noted changes in the child's school performance within 2 years of the change in family structure. The data also reveals that biological parents primarily handled the school performance issues. There was an equal number of biological mothers and biological fathers who addressed the school performance issues. Only two participants reported involvement of stepparents.

Table 3

Changes in Child's School Performance

Participant	Onset of changes in school performance	How long to improve school performance	Parent who mostly addresses school performance issue
1	Beginning of family structure change and at the beginning of first grade	Within 2 months after the family structure change	Biological mother
2	One year after family structure change	6 months to 1 year	Biological mother
3	Almost 2 years after family structure change	3 to 6 months	Biological dad
6	About 1 year after family structure change/First grade	1 to 2 years	Biological dad
10	About 6 months to 1-year of family structure change	Around 6 months	Biological mom
11	Within the first year of family structure change	A couple of months	Biological mom
12	Two years after family structure change	Within two weeks of school starting	Stepmom and Biological dad
13	Almost two years after family structure change	Within 2 weeks	Biological dad and stepmom

Emergent Themes Across Interview Questions

Participants were asked to respond to seven questions regarding changes in their children's school performance after their family structure changed. The emergent themes from the results are presented in Table 4. The table shows the topic of each interview question, the emergent themes for each interview question as well as the codes/key words and phrases that were coded to each theme.

Figure 1

Emergent Themes Across Interview Questions

Topic	Theme	Codes/Key phrases	
Types of changes in	Negative behavior in school	Fighting with peers Seeking approval from teachers Misbehavior in class	
Behavior	Negative behavior at home	Fighting with siblings Toilet training issues Inappropriate touching	
	Parent-teacher meetings	Check daily and weekly reports	
Parent interactions with		Get ideas on how to help child from teachers Regular visits to school/classroom	
school to address school		I.E.P. meetings	
behavior	School conferences	Request smaller class size (per child's request)	
		change classrooms	
	Rewards	Spend more one-on-one time studying	
		Give chance to earn more free time	
Parent interactions with		Reward charts	
child to address child's behavior		Provide special treats	
	Provide/reinforce structure	Reinforce Routines	
		Review/reinforce school rules	
		Discussions with child about behaviors and or concerns	
	Open communication	Talk about negative things child may hear or see with other stepfamilies	
Specific actions parents		Have child identify issue	
used to help lessen impact of family structural changes on school-aged children		listen to child's point of view	
	Promote BFU family time	Fun walks in the evening	
		Regular weekend cookouts	
		BFU movie night/treats	
	Engage biological parents	Allow non-residential parent to continue regular visits with child.	

		Have biological parent participate in rewarding good behavior.	
	Improve sibling relations	Structure positive interactions with siblings	
Child's perception of school performance		He/she says he is just bad/negative behavior	
	Negative self-talk	He/she cannot do classwork/negative classroom behavior	
		Engage stepparents in parenting	
	Allow time for adjustment	Spend one-on-one time with each child	
		Allow visits with absent biological parent	
	Communication-with teachers	Effective communication with schools	
		Both parents should meet with teacher	
Advice for addressing		Constantly talk with child and teachers	
school performance issues	Family meetings	Gather input from child input on family matters	
	Administer appropriate Discipline	Take things away	
		Before discipling your child make sure the school performance issue warrants a discipline	

Types of Changes in Behavior

Participants were asked to describe the change in the child's school behavior after the change in family structure. The two themes that emerged were negative behavior in school and inappropriate behavior at home. Participant 6 described how the family structural change affected her son's behavior with his school peers. This participant stated. "Well, my son doesn't like to share, so he was always in trouble for not sharing and I think he took his anger out on his teachers and classmates." Participant 1 indicated that the changes in school performance were mostly shown in behavior aimed at seeking attention from the child's teachers at school. The following statements reflects Participant 1's description of her son's change in behavior at school consisted of the following "The youngest child showed a lot of insecurity in school. He was making bad choices. The

youngest child also looked for a lot of validation. The teachers felt the youngest child looked for their approval." Participant 3 stated the following regarding her son's performance at school, "He was really bad in kindergarten. They [the school Administrator] called me every day to come pick him up from school." Participant 13 also commented on the changes in his daughter's behavior at school by sharing, "Daughter's school behavior worsened throughout the years. She was getting in trouble daily for picking with other students at the school. I became aware of the degree and frequency of issues from my wife and school staff." Participant 3 described how her son began fighting with siblings at home. According to Participant 3 "He started fighting a lot with his brothers when they would not give him their stuff." Participant 12 described how the change affected her stepdaughter both at home and at school. This participant indicated the following:

Our daughter resided with her biological mother fulltime from April 2015-July 2020, with my husband being the time-sharing parent. During that time, our daughter's behavior worsened throughout the years. Shortly after residing with her biological mother, she began hitting classmates. Over time, these behaviors further regressed to toilet training issues, sexual inappropriate touching others, sexual inappropriate touching herself, elopement, and de-robing in public. These behaviors mainly occurred whenever she was under the care of her biological mother, with my husband or myself seldom witnessing these behaviors.

Interactions with School to Address Behavior

When participants were asked to discuss how they engaged with the schools to address their child's school performance, two themes emerged. The first theme was through parent teacher meetings and the second theme was attending school conferences. Several participants indicated that they talked with the teachers and attended I.E.P and 504 meetings to gather ideas on how to help their children improve their behavior at school. Participant 1 described her interactions with the child's school to address the school performance issues as follows: "To address the school performance, it was discussed with the school during an in-person 504 conference. Discussions with the teacher include requesting smaller peer groups during reading and math". Participant 2 reported the following interactions with the child's school to address the school performance issues:

I have to check daily and weekly reports then sign them for the teachers, so they know I seen them. I went to all the meetings with the teachers and principal, and sometimes I just go to the school and hangout there for a couple hours.

Participant 6 stated that the following actions were taken with the child's teacher to address the school performance issues "I talk to his teachers to get some ideas to help him improve at school". Participant 12 stated the following interactions with the child's teacher: "I was not able to participate in addressing the school regarding my daughter's school performance. My spouse [biological father] stayed in touch with teachers".

Interactions with Child to Address School Performance

Participants were asked how they and their spouses interacted with their children to address school performance issues. Providing rewards and reinforcing structure were the prominent themes that emerged from their responses. When Participant 1 described their family meetings to reinforce structure, the participant stated, "My spouse and I interact with or son by sitting him down and discussing the importance of hard work and seeing if there was anything bothering him or distracting him during school". Participant 2 indicate that they used communication and seeking the child's input to address the school performance issues. The participant stated, "We talk to him and see do he know where he went wrong. Then we ask him to tell us how he will make it right next time if the same issues come up". Participant 6 reported the following actions taken to interact with their child on school performance issues, "We both do homework with him and extra reading every night. I set a specific schedule for him because he seems to do better when he has a schedule." When Participant 11 described the use of family meetings as addressing school performance issues, Participant 11 stated, "We talk to our son and ask if something bothering him. And figure ways to improve his performance and let him know we are behind him in being the best". Participant 13 reported using one-on-one time with the child, creating new BFU memories, and using appropriate discipline with their child to address school performance issues, the themes reflected were one on one time with child creating new BFU memories and appropriate discipling. Participant 13 reported the following:

We sit down with her and assist her with her schoolwork. We also spend quality time with her. Although she is currently non-verbal, our daughter fully understands what she is doing and as such, we hold her accountable for her actions and if needed we will discipline her.

Actions Taken to Lessen Impact of Family Structural Change

Parents were asked to describe the actions taken to lessen the impact that blended family structure change had on their school-aged children's school performance. The four themes that emerged were open family communication, promoting BFU family time, engaging the biological parent, and improving sibling relations. When Participant 1 was asked to share their actions taken to lessen the impact, they stated the following on effective communication, engaging biological parent and creating new blended family memories:

My spouse and I have daily discussions with our son, and we try to take our son to his biological fathers' home to spend time with him. We also try to create new family memories by doing things together, like road trips, video calls when apart, sports events, etc. We participate in things our son is interested in.

Participant 2 shared that promoting blended family time such as creating new memories were important to lessen the impact of family structural change on their child. Participant 2 stated, "We take the kids for a little fun walk in the sun and sometimes we have a little fun family cookout. Sometimes we have movie night with popcorn and their favorite treats." Participant 6 described the use of improving sibling relations as a way to lessen the impact the blended family structure change had on their child's school performance.

Participant 6 stated, "Man, we try to reward him as much as we can for helping his younger stepbrothers. I think if they get along better he will not go to school already heated some mornings". Participant 10 shared that to lessen the impact of family structural change on their child, they use open parent-child communication. This participant stated, "We talk a lot about things she may hear or see with other stepfamilies. We let her know that she can just pull one of us aside to discuss anything about our new family".

Child's perception of School Performance Issues

When participants were asked about their children's perceptions of their school performance, the prominent theme that emerged was the children internalized negative self-talk about their behavior, Participant 1 responded to the question about their children's perceptions of their school performance by stating, "His perception of his school performance is he reported/felt he wasn't working hard enough, and that he wasn't taking his time." Participant 2 reflected examples of the negative self-talk in the following comments about her son's perception of his school performance, "He used to say that nobody loves him, so he was being bad. Now he talks things out more, but sometimes it's too late because he is already in trouble". Participant 6 also shared some the negative self-talk used by her son. This participant stated the following: "He tells us that he is just bad, but he is going to be good". Participant 10 responded to the question about the child's perceptions of school performance by stating that, "Last year she just told us that she just doesn't understand her teacher. So, she probably thinks her behavior in class is because she is bored because she cannot do some of the work." Participant 11

shared the following when asked question about the children's perceptions of their school performance:

My stepson really wants to be the best. He wants an A+ on assignments and tests. He realized he has to work hard to get A's. He gets mad when he does not make A's and he thinks his bad behavior when he gets low grades is his issue.

Advice for Addressing School Performance

Participants were asked what advice they have for blended family parents to address school performance issues. The themes which emerged were allow time for adjustment, engage in effective communication with schools and family members, and administer appropriate discipline, Participant 1 shared how they used effective communication and allowing time for adjustment to address the children's school performance:

Communication has been the main thing we have done with our family. We are constantly talking with both kids and getting their input on things they would like to see within our family. I would suggest allowing time for adjustment with a party' involved.

Participant 2 also recommended that parents should use effective communication to address school performance issues. Participant 2 stated the following: "Always make sure they listen to the child as well as the school and give them a way out of the issue.

Because you do not want them to grow up thinking they are just bad and cannot change".

Participant 6 shared the following advice on communication with family and meeting with teachers for blended family parents:

I have a couple of things, first, the stepfather has to be active with all the kids. Second, both parents should meet with teachers so they will be on the same page and not getting secondhand reports about the child because when things get shared sometimes the true meaning gets messed up. I think parents need to spend one-on-one time with all of the kids as much as possible, and one thing I think is very important is that you need to get help for your kids if you have tried what you know, and it do not work.

When Participant 3 responded to the question regarding advice for blended family parents, Participant 3 shared the following in regard to using appropriate discipline to address school performance issues: "Take things away from him that he loves or like doing". Participant 6 responded to the question regarding advice for blended family parents by sharing how they used prominent themes such as allowing time for adjustment by inclusion of stepfather. Participant 6 also shared that effective communication with school to obtain help with school issues, and effective communication/time with child was important. Participant 6 stated the following on advice for blended family parents:

I have a couple of things, first, the stepfather has to be active with all the kids. Second, both parents should meet with teachers so they will be on the same page and not getting secondhand reports about the child because when things get shared sometimes the true meaning gets messed up. I think parents need to spend one-on-one time with all of the kids as much as possible, and one thing I think is very important is that you need to get help for your kids if you have tried what you know, and it do not work.

Participant 10 also gave comments related to using effective communication with the child and with the child's school to address school performance issues. Participant 10 gave the following advice for parents:

Take as much time as you need to pray and talk with you kids about school and family. Parents should also check in with their kids' teachers at least once a month to make sure they on following all rules and on track with their learning. Participant 11 shared advice for communicating with family by stating, "I believe communication is the key to getting an understanding about school, and value their input." Participant 12 shared advice for other blended family parents on effective communication with schools by stating, "Effective communication with all parties (school, therapy center, other parents) is key. Also, all parties involved need to understand that the child is priority number one".

Composite Summary

The research question which guided this study was: What strategies do African American parents in blended family units adopt to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance. Participants indicated that within 2 years of the changes in family structure, they began noticing negative changes in behavior that were manifested at school and at home. The negative behaviors at school consisted of things such as fighting with peers, seeking approval from teachers, and misbehaving in class. The negative behaviors at home consisted of things such as fighting with siblings, toilet training issues, and inappropriate changes in behavior.

Participants indicated that they engaged in a number of interactions with the school to address the school performance issues. The interactions with the schools consisted of parent teacher meetings where the parents talked with teachers to get ideas of how to address the school performance issues. Other interactions with the school involved checking daily behavior reports and weekly progress reports. School conferences were other interactions with the schools. The conferences consisted of IEP meetings and frequent visits to the child's classroom.

The participants indicated they engaged in a number of interactions with their school-age child to address school performance. The actions consisted of rewarding good behavior and creating detailed schedules for the child to follow. Participants reported that the specific actions they used to help lessen the impact that blended family structure change had on their school-aged child's school performance was open communication. The open communication consisted of daily communication with their child about behaviors and concerns, talking to the child about things they may hear or see with other stepfamilies, and allowing the child to discuss anything. Allowing the child to maintain contact with their absent biological parent and creating new blended family memories were also actions taken to lessen the impact of family structure change on school-aged children. To address the children's perceptions of their school performance issue, participants indicated that they used open communication to allow the children to identify the issues and express concerns about themselves.

Advice for blended family parents on addressing school performance issues consisted of allowing time for adjustment, which would consist of engaging stepparents

in parenting. Advice also consisted of, spending one-on-one time with each child, allowing visits with absent biological parent, and taking time to think before reacting to your child's school performance. Participants also recommended the use effective communication with children and the schools, conducting family meetings, and using appropriate discipline to address school performance issues. Lastly, participants recommended the use of rewards to address children's school performance issues. Participants stated that allowing their children to earn free time/rewards, spending more one-on-one time studying with their child, placing their child in smaller classes, and parent-teacher teleconferences were strategies used with their child to address behavior and school performance.

Summary

The introduction describing the purpose of the study, the setting, participant demographics, data collection process, data analysis process, evidence of trustworthiness and results of the study were described. The purpose of the study was to explore what strategies do African American parents in blended family units adopt to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance. Eight participants responded to eleven parent participant questions and ten demographic questions during individual interviews. Participant demographics consisted of five females and three males between the ages of 30-49 years (see Table 1). Data was collected via computer and email during the interview process. Generic qualitative methods with Colaizzi's seven step process were used during the data analysis process.

credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. To establish credibility and trustworthiness in qualitative research, in this study I used member checking, reflexivity, and audit trail to enhance the credibility of the findings from this research. To enhance transferability of the results from this study, I used an audit trail, thick rich descriptions of the collected data, and purposeful sampling. To ensure dependability member checking was utilized and to enhance confirmability, In addition, a composite summary that presented the strategies African American parents in BFUs used to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance is included. In Chapter 5, I will present an interpretation of findings, limitations of the study, recommendations, implications and a conclusion.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Data from the 2019 US census revealed that 276,686 American children resided in blended/stepfamily households (U. S. Census Bureau, 2019). Findings from Bryant et al. (2016) revealed that adjusting to a blended family unit formation can be even more challenging for blended African American families. The challenges, such as the formation of new relations and step-parental roles, can negatively affect the school-aged children causing negative behavioral issues (Bryant et al., 2016). The purpose of this generic qualitative study was to explore what strategies African American parents in blended families use to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their children's school performance. Findings from this study indicated that African American blended family parents are highly involved with their child's academic performance and needs. The themes that emerged from this study supported past research that indicated that the stressors school-age children experience when they endure family structural changes can interfere with the children's school performance (de Brey et al., 2017). Findings from this study presents new literature which focused on strategies adopted by African American blended family parents to lessen the impact which family structure change can have on their school-aged children.

Participants responded to several topics related to changes in their children's school performance after becoming part of a blended family. The first topic addressed types of changes in behavior. The two themes that emerged from the first topic consisted of negative behavior in school and negative behavior at home. Participants indicated they attended parent-teacher conferences and other school meetings to address the school

behavior When asked about actions they with the child to address the school behavior, participants revealed that they gave the child rewards and provided/reinforced structure. Participants further revealed they used several other strategies to lessen the impact of the family structural changes on their children's behavior. The themes which emerged from the fourth topic were using open communication, providing BFU family time, engaging biological parents, and taking action to improving sibling relations. The fifth topic participants responded to was the child's perception of school performance. The theme that emerged from the fifth topic was negative self-talk. The sixth topic participants responded to was advice for addressing school performance issues. The themes that emerged from the sixth topic were allow time for adjustment, communication with teachers, family meetings, and administer appropriate discipline.

Interpretation of Findings Relative to the Literature Review

Lee and McLanahan (2015) asserted that there was a connection between family structural changes and a child's overall cognitive development. The author noted that a family structural change challenges can negatively impact a child's behavior and overall well-being (Lee & McLanahan, 2015). Finding from this study are consistent with findings reported by Lee and McLanahan. The following sections address how results from this study are aligned with findings from previous results. The findings are presented by topic.

Changes in Behavior

Participants were asked to describe the changes in their child's school performance. The two themes that emerged from this first topic consisted of *negative*

behavior in school and negative behavior at home. The themes which emerged this topic are consistent with results presented in the literature. For instance, Jensen et al. (2017) found that children who experienced family structural changes were more likely to have negative behaviors in school. Participants in this study indicated that the changes in their children's school behavior consisted of things such as taking anger out on teachers and peers at school, making bad choices in school because of feelings of insecurity, getting in trouble every day for picking on classmates, and hitting classmates. Kolbert et al. (2013) also reported that adolescents exhibited negative behaviors in school and home in response after experiencing structural changes in their family units. Comments from participants in this study were consistent with findings reported by Kolbert et al. (2013). The participants in this study indicated that their school aged children began fighting with siblings at home after the change in family structure.

Interactions with School to Address School Behavior

Participants were asked to discuss the interactions they had with their children's school to address the children's school performance. The two themes that emerged were engaging in parent-teacher meetings and school conferences. Participants reported strategies such as meeting with teachers and principals, requesting smaller classes, checking, and signing daily reports, and attending school conferences such as I.E.P. and 504 meetings. Results from this study align with suggestions from Doctoroff and Arnold (2017) who found that school involvement on the part of parents could lessen the negative impact that family structural change has on youth. The use of strategies such as

having parent-teacher meetings and school conferences were consistent with suggestions presented in the literature for addressing children's school performance issues.

Interactions with Child to Address Behavior

Parents were asked to discuss the interactions they had with their children to address school performance. Two themes which emerged from this third topic were the use of rewards and providing/reinforcing structure. The themes that emerged were consistent with finding from previous researchers. For instance, Lopoo and DeLeire (2014) found that interactions such as spending more one-on-one time studying, giving the child a chance to earn more free time, creating reward charts, providing special treats, reinforcing routines, and review/reinforce school rules to reinforce structure. The authors asserted that if the family structure change lowers the children's economic status, there would be a significant relationship/impact on a child's behavior and school performance (Lopoo & DeLeire, 2014).

Actions to Lessen Impact of Family Structural Changes on Child

Participants were asked to discuss actions taken to lessen the impact on their children. The four themes which emerged from the fourth topic were open communication, promote BFU family time, engage biological parents, and improve sibling relations. Participants reported strategies such as discussions with child about behaviors and or concerns, talking about negative things child may hear or see with other stepfamilies, have child identify issue, and listen to child's point of view. Participants also reported strategies such as fun walks in the evening, regular weekend cookouts, BFU movie night with food treats, engaging nonresidential parent and stepparents, and

structuring positive interactions with stepsiblings. Participants reported actions/strategies such as the findings were consistent with results presented in previous literature. For instance, Jensen et al. (2017) revealed that children who had continued contact with nonresident parents had less stress than children who did not maintain regular contact with the nonresident parent (Jensen et al., 2017). In their study, findings also showed that when children experienced close relationships with residential parents, both biological and stepparent, the children's stress levels were mitigated during the stepfamily formation process (Jensen et al., 2017). Researched findings in this study are consistent with elements that continual negative relationships, within a child's blended family household environment, hindered the children's school performance (Xia et al., 2016). As noted, the emerged themes from this study which supports the literature are communication, promote BFU family time, and engage biological parents.

Child's Perception of School Performance

Findings from past research revealed that blended family structural changes could affect children's school performance (Doctoroff & Arnold, 2017; Fosco, 2018). Participants were asked to discuss their child's perception of school performance. The theme that emerged from this fifth topic was that the children engaged in a lot of *negative self-talk*. Participants reported child negative self-talk such as he says he is just bad/negative behavior, and he/she cannot do classwork/negative classroom behavior. Negative self-talk indicated the children did not feel good about self. The negative self-talk may have been an indication of poor self-esteem and/or poor self-concept. The theme from this study, negative self-talk, supports Havermans et al. (2017) literature regarding

how family structure change can affect low self-esteem and school engagement of school-aged children.

Advice for Other Parents

Participants were asked what advice would they give to other parents in BFUs to address the impact of family structural change on children's school performance. The four themes which emerged from this topic were allowing time for adjustment, communicating with teachers, family meetings, and administering appropriate discipline. Participants suggested using strategies such as engaging stepparents in the parenting process. According to participants, engaging stepparents in the parenting process aids in allowing the child time to adjust to the new family structure. Participants also suggested that family meetings such as spending one-on-one time with each child, constantly talking with child, and gathering input from child on family matters were additional strategies used to address the impact of family structural change on children's school performance. Effective communication with schools where both parents meet with teacher were strategies used to ensure that both parents were understanding the needs and or issues with their child's school performance. Participants reported that before disciplining your child make sure the school issue warrants a discipline. If discipline is warranted, administering appropriate discipline can consisted of taking things away that the child enjoys doing. The themes from the advice given by participants were consistent with suggestions for addressing children's school performance presented in previous literature. Jensen et al. (2017) asserted that when children experienced close relationships with residential parents, both biological and stepparent, the children's stress

levels were mitigated. Findings from this study were consistent with Jensen's recommendation of allowing time for adjustment during the family structure change as a strategy to address children's school performance issues. Jensen et al. (2017) study aligns with the findings in this study regarding the importance of allowing time for adjustment using strategies such as family meetings to ensure positive blended family climate (Jensen et al., 2017). Doctoroff and Arnold (2017) shared that children who experienced familial structural changes tended to have lower levels of school performance. The author's indicated that school involvement on the part of parents would lessen the negative impact that family structural change has on children's school performance. The use of strategies such as communicating with teachers were consistent with suggestions presented in the literature by Doctoroff and Arnold (2017) which suggest that parental school involvement would lessen the negative impact that family structural change has on children's school performance.

Interpretation of the Findings and Bowen's Family Systems Theory

According to Bowen (1975), family structural changes can impact how individuals develop within a family system/unit. Findings from this research were related to two of Bowen's eight concepts. Themes which emerged from the data analysis for this this study can be linked to Bowen's principals of triangles and differentiation of self.

Triangles

Bowen (1976) defined a triangle as a three-party relationship system that is typically created when one of a dyadic relationship includes another party into the dyadic relations. Findings from this study can be linked to the four triangles such of parent-

child-step parent, parent-child-absent biological parent, parent-child-teacher, and parent-child-school. The first triangle was indicated when participants were asked to describe the actions they had taken to minimize the impact that blended family structure on their children's school performance. The specific theme that emerged was to engage non-residential parent, which created the parent-child-absent biological parent triangle. Participants interacted with biological parents for the overall well-being of the school-aged child. Participants shared that they allowed the child to spend time with the biological parent. Participants also involved the biological parent by having the biological parent participate in rewarding the child for positive behavior in school.

The second triangle, parent-child-stepparent triangle, was revealed when participants were asked what actions they took to lessen the impact of family structural changes on the school-aged children. The two themes which emerged were open communication with child and promoting BFU family time. The two themes created the parent-child-stepparent triangle. Participants reported actions such as discussions with child about behaviors and or concerns, talking about negative things child may hear or see with other stepfamilies, having the child identify issue, and listening to child's point of view. Participants also reported that promoting BFU time consisted of fun walks in the evening, regular weekend cookouts, BFU movie nights and engaging stepparents, and creating structured positive interactions with siblings. Participants shared that including the stepparent in the dyadic relations of the parent-child relationship may be one of the most important actions to help mitigate the negative impact on school-aged children during family structure change.

The third triangle, parent-child-teacher triangle, was indicated when the participants discussed their interactions with children to address the school behavior. Participants reported actions such as parent teacher conferences, getting ideas from teachers on how to help their child teachers.

The fourth triangle was evidenced when the participants' indicated they participated in school conferences to address their children's school performance issues. Participants reported engaging in strategies such as attending regular school conferences such as I.E.P meetings, checking daily and weekly reports and, making regular visits to school/classroom. Participants reported some improvement in their child's school performance after using the strategies.

Differentiation of Self

The second concept of BFST that was illuminated in the findings from this study was differentiation of self, which refers to a person's attempts to maintain a sense of self while being emotionally connected to others in familial relations (Bowen, 1978). Bowen (1978) asserted that poorly differentiated people may depend heavily on the acceptance and approval of others. The concept of differentiation of self-emerged in the participants' responses to the question that asked the children's perceptions of their school performance. The theme primary theme which emerged was that the children engaged in negative self-talk when asked about their school behavior. Participants indicated the children shared that were just bad, so they displayed negative behavior at school. Some children informed parents that nobody loved them, so they engaged in negative behavior. To improve the child's behavior and school performance, participants reported utilizing

open communication which consisted of daily discussion with the child about school issues and any other concerns to mitigate the negative self-talk presented by the child.

Open communication with the child would increase the child's sense of self and improve his/her perception of self, which could result in the child exhibiting a higher differentiation of self.

Limitations of the Study

There are several limitations of the findings from this study which may affect the transferability of results. The first limitation is the small sample size of eight African American parents from blended family unites who reported on their school-aged children's school performance and behavior. The smaller sample size limits the transferability of the results because the blended family population has increased over the past decade and is a unique union with unique challenges during the formation of the blended family unit. A smaller sample size limits the transferability to a broader population of African American blended family parents. Connelly (2016) asserted that transferability is present in a study when others can reproduce a study using rich data. A larger sample size would examine the phenomenon studied across a larger population which might produce a richer knowledge of strategies adopted by parents to lessen the impact of family structure change on their school-aged children.

The second limitation is that initially, the participant interviews were to be held face-to-face, therefore, the geographic location of participants was limited to the Central West Florida region to gain an understanding of African American blended parent strategies use in the specific region. In regard to the Covid 19 pandemic, participant

interviews were held via Facetime and telephone. The initial geographic restriction on participants in this study limited the transferability of the results to a broader population. Geographic restriction on participants may have hindered obtaining rich detailed responses on the phenomenon, and the transferability of the study (Levitt, 2016). Including participants from various geographic backgrounds and ethnicities would increase the transferability by providing an all-inclusive insight on strategies used to mitigate the impact that family structure change has on school-aged children's school performance relating to negative behavior and poor grades.

A third limitation to this study was that participant participation was limited to African American blended family units only, which also limited the transferability of the study results. The African American blended family parent population was not an all-inclusive representation of all parents residing in a blended family unit. Inclusion of non-African American parents might lend additional insight on what strategies blended family parents adopt to lessen the impact that family structure change has on school-aged children's school performance relating to negative school behavior and poor grades.

The fourth limitation in this study is that participants reported on the school performance of one school-aged child. Whereas all children in a blended family household could experience behavior issues resulting from changes in family structure and the formation of a blended family unit. Only focusing on one child's school performance limits the transferability of the results to a broader population of school-aged children who may have experienced family structural changes as a result of residing in blended family units. Focusing on all children in a blended family household may

increase the transferability of the results by extending the bounds to a larger population of school-aged children who have experienced family structural changes by residing in blended family units.

Lastly, a limitation of the research was that the participants' responses only addressed behavioral change in school and at home. Responses focusing only on school behavior limits the transferability of the results as it did not address other aspects of school performance such as grades or participation in school activities. Not getting information about the broader domain of school performance limits the findings to focus on behavior, with is mostly physical in nature. Follow up questions from the researcher to ask more broadly about school performance may have enhanced the transferability of this study.

Recommendations

Based on the limitations in this study, I recommend future qualitative studies on a larger sample size of African American blended family parent households. The purpose of the larger sample size is that it would improve transferability to a higher number of African American blended family parents reporting on what strategies adopted by African American blended family parents to lessen the impact that family structure change can have on their school-aged child's school performance. Future qualitative research which includes a study on the impact that family structure change has on a school-aged child's overall school performance is recommended. Additional qualitative studies would provide a more in-depth review of how a child's behavior is impacted after experiencing family structural changes after the formation of a blended family unit.

I would also recommend that additional research on African American blended family parents and their school-aged children the be conducted. The purpose of additional studies would be to determine the impact that external factors such as racial and or ethnic issues has on African American school-aged children who experience family structure change. I also recommend that participant solicitation be extended to a broader population of individuals outside of the Central West Florida region. The purpose of extending the geographics outside of Central West Florida will be to determine whether the findings in this study are consistent for children in BFUs in other regions.

In addition, this study focused on African American blended family school-aged children exhibiting negative school behavior. Therefore, it is recommended that future studies be conducted to examine children from various ethnic backgrounds. Such studies will add additional insight into how family structural changes experienced can impact a school-aged child's school performance across various racial and ethnic backgrounds.

Furthermore, a recommendation including a qualitative study which focuses on a more in-depth view of school performance issues such as grades, academic and overall school participation exhibited by children residing in blended family households is recommended. The purpose of such studies would add additional insight into how family structural changes resulting in the formation of a blended family unit can impact a school-aged child's school performance.

Implications for Positive Social Change

The unique contribution of this study is that the study focused only on African American blended family parents reporting on the strategies they adopted to lessen the

impact that family structure change had on their school-aged children's behavior in the home and school settings. The findings from this study showed that African American families use the same types of strategies to address school performance issues that that are presented in the literature. Results revealed several strategies for addressing changes in school aged children that occurred after entering a blended family unit. Participants also gave advice for blended family parents to utilize with their school-aged child to address school performance issues.

Bowen's family system theory was used to gain insight on how and or why the new BFU familial relations may have impacted the child's school performance. It is recommended that Bowen's family systems theory be utilized in future studies which examine the relationship between family structure change ending in a blended family unit and a child's overall school performance. Human services professionals could use the topics and themes from this study as a guide in blended family programs and policies that create positive social change for school-aged children and their parents residing in a blended family. In addition, human services professionals can use this current research to create blended family focused seminars, workshops and television programs that are blended family focused.

Summary

Family structure change which promotes a blended family unit can be challenging for a school-aged child. Children maneuvering through various new relations such as parent-child-step parent, parent-child-absent biological parent, parent-child-teacher, and parent-child-school, because of the family structure change, can become stressful.

Continual stressors during the formation of a blended family have been linked to negative behavioral outcomes and low school performance relating to poorer grades (Arnold et al., 2017). Findings in this study indicated that participants adopted myriads of strategies to lessen the impact that family structure change have had on their school-aged child's school performance. Results of this study indicated that strategies such as open communication with child and teachers to include school conferences, rewards for the child, providing structure, engaging biological parents, and allowing time for the child to adjust to the new blended family environment would be beneficial to the child, and assist in improving the child's academic performance. This warrants further study to gain a better understanding of additional strategies that can be adopted by blended family parents to lessen the negative impact that family structure change can have on a schoolaged child's school performance.

References

- Aagaard, J., & Matthiesen, N. (2016). Methods of materiality: Participant observation and qualitative research in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 13(1), 33-46. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1090510
- Arnold, A. L., Lucier-Greer, M., Mancini, J. A., Ford, J. L., & Wickrama, K. A. S.
 (2017). How Family Structures and Processes Interrelate: The Case of Adolescent Mental Health and Academic Success in Military Families. *JOURNAL OF FAMILY ISSUES*, 38(6), 858–879. doi-https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/-10.1177/0192513X15616849
- Assari, S., Caldwell, C. H., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2018). Family Structure and Subsequent Anxiety Symptoms; Minorities' Diminished Return. *BRAIN SCIENCES*, 8(6). https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3390/braincisci8060097
- Aveling, E., Gillespie, A., & Cornish, F. (2015). A qualitative method for analyzing multi-voicedness. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(6), 670-687.
- Baksh, B. (2018). To bracket or not to bracket: Reflections of a novice qualitative researcher. *Reflections: Narratives of Professional Helping*, 24(3), 45-55.
- Barton, A. W., Beach, S. R. H., Bryant, C. M., Lavner, J. A., & Brody, G. H. (2018).

 Stress spillover, African Americans' couple and health outcomes, and the stress-buffering effect of family-centered prevention. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 32(2), 186–196.

https://doi- org.ezp.waldenulibray.org/10.1037/fam0000376

- Bastaits K, & Mortelmans D. (2017). Are they related? *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage* 58(7), 542-558.
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *QUALITATIVE RESEARCH*, *15*(2), 219–234. https://doi- org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bevan, M. T. (2014). A method of phenomenological interviewing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24(1), 136-144.
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26(13), 1802-1811.
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19(4), 426-432.
- Bowen M. (1978). Family therapy in clinical practice. Jason Aronson.
- Bowen, M., (2007). Murray Bowen. Psychotherapy Networker Magazine, 31(2), 33–68.
- Brooks-Holliday, S., Edelen, M., & Tucker, J. (2017). Family functioning and predictors of runaway behavior among at-risk youth. *Child & Adolescent Social Work Journal*, *34*(3), 247-258.
- Brooks, J. E. (2015). The Impact of Family Structure, Relationships, and Support on African American Students' Collegiate Experiences. *Journal of Black Studies* 46(8), 817-836.
- Brown, O., & Robinson, J. (2012). Resilience in remarried families. *South African Journal of Psychology*, 42(1), 114-126.
- Browne, A. P., & Battle, J. (2018). Black Family Structure and Educational Outcomes:

- The Role of Household Structure and Intersectionality. *Journal of African American Studies*, 22(1), 77-93.
- Bryant, C. M., Futris, T. G., Hicks, M. R., Lee, T., & Oshri, A. (2016). African American stepfather–stepchild relationships, marital quality, and mental health. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *57*(6), 375-388.
- Buehler, C., Franck, K. L., & Cook, E. C. (2009). Adolescents' triangulation in marital conflict and peer relations. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 19(4), 669-689.
- Bugge, C., Grant, A., Dean, S., Smith, J. H., McClurg, D., & Hagen, S. (2017). What does qualitative case study methodology have to offer the interpretation of findings from trials of complex interventions? Reflections from a large complex intervention study. *TRIALS*, *18(issue)*, pg. 1.
- Canals, L. (2017). Instruments for gathering data. In *Research-publishing.net*. Research-publishing.net (pp. 390-401).
- Causey, S. T., Livingston, J., & High, B. (2015). Family structure, racial socialization, perceived parental involvement, and social support as predicators of self-esteem in African American college students. *Journal of Black Studies*, 46(7), 655-677.
- Census Bureau (2019). Families & Living Arrangements.

 https://www.census.gov/data/tables/2019/demo/families/cps-2019.html
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 16(1), 255-262.
- Clark, V. L. P., Wang, S. C., & Toraman, S. (2019). Applying qualitative and mixed

- methods research in family psychology. In B. H. Fiese, M. Celano, K. Deater-Deckard, E. N. Jouriles, & M. A. Whisman (Eds.), *APA handbook of contemporary family psychology: Foundations, methods, and contemporary issues across the lifespan., Vol. 1.* (pp. 317–333). American Psychological Association. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/0000099-018
- Collins, C. (2019). African American definition and meaning. Retrieved April 19, 2019, from https://www.collinsdictionary.com/us/dictionary/english/african-american.
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding Research. Trustworthiness in Qualitative Research. *MEDSURG Nursing*, *25*(6), 435-436.
- Crampton, A. (2015). Ethnographic refusal as research method: Example from a study of a family court child custody mediation program. *QUALITATIVE SOCIAL WORK*, *14*(4), 453–470. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1473325014557577
- Crouch, E., Probst, J. C., Radcliff, E., Bennett, K. J., & Mckinney, S. H. (2019).

 Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) among US children. Child

 Abuse & Neglect, 92, 209-218.
- Darawsheh, W. (2014). Reflexivity in research: Promoting rigor, reliability, and validity in qualitative research. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, 21(12), 560-568.
- Davidson, J., Thompson, S., & Harris, A. (2017). Qualitative Data Analysis Software

 Practices in Complex Research Teams: Troubling the Assumptions About

 Transparency and Portability. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23(10), 779-788.

- DeGreeff, B. L., & Platt, C. A. (2016). Green-eyed (step) monsters: Parental figures' perceptions of jealousy in the stepfamily. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 57(2), 112-132.
- Diamond, R. M., Brimhall, A S & Elliott, M. (2018). Attachment and relationship satisfaction among first married, remarried, and post-divorce relationships. *Journal of Family Therapy, 40,* S111-S127.
- Doctoroff, G. L., & Arnold, D. H. (2017). Doing homework together: The relation between parenting strategies, child engagement, and achievement. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, 48103-113.
- El-Sheikh, M., Tu, K. M., Erath, S. A., & Buckhalt, J. A. (2014). Family stress and adolescents' cognitive functioning: Sleep as a protective factor. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(6), 887-896.
- Forehand, R., Parent, J., Golub, A., & Reid, M. (2015). Correlates of Male Cohabiting Partner's Involvement in Child-Rearing Tasks in Low-Income Urban Black Stepfamilies. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(3), 336-345.
- Gentles, S. J. Charles, C., Ploeg, J., & Mckibbon, K. A. (2015). Sampling in Qualitative Research: Insights from an Overview of the Methods Literature. Qualitative Report, 20(11), 1772-1789.
- Green, C., Wisdom, J., & Duan, N. (2015). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data

 Collection and Analysis in Mixed Method Implementation Research.

 Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services

 Research, 42(5), 533-544.

- Griffith, D. A., Morris, E. S., & Thakar, V. (2015). Spatial Autocorrelation and Qualitative Sampling: The Case of Snowball Type Sampling Designs. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, 106(4), 773-787.
- Hashemi, L., & Homayuni, H. (2017). Emotional Divorce: Child's Well-Being. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 58(8), 631-644.
- Havermans, N., Vanassche, S., & Matthijs, K. (2017). Children's Post-Divorce Living Arrangements and School Engagement: Financial Resources, Parent-Child Relationship, Selectivity and Stress. *Journal of Child & Family Studies*, *26*(12), 3425-3438.
- Hennink, M. M., Kaiser, B. N., & Marconi, V. C. (2017). Code saturation versus meaning saturation: How many interviews are enough? *Qualitative Health**Research*, 27(4), 591-608.
- Hindman, J. M., Riggs, S. A., & Hook, J. (2013). Contributions of executive, parent—child, and sibling subsystems to children's psychological functioning. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*, *2*(4), 294-308.
- Hines, E. M., & Holcomb-McCoy, C. (2013). Parental Characteristics, Ecological Factors, and the School Achievement of African American Males. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91(1), 68-77.
- Hoover, S. M., Strapp C. M., Ito, A., Foster, K., & Roth, K. (2018). Teaching qualitative research interviewer skills: A developmental framework for social justice psychological research teams. *Qualitative Psychology*, *5*(2), 300-318.
- Jager, J., Yuen, C. X., Bornstein, M. H., Putnick, D. L., & Hendricks, C. (2014). The

- relations of family members' unique and shared perspectives of family dysfunction to dyad adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 28(3), 407-414.
- Jarrett, R. L., & Burton, L. M. (1999). Dynamic Dimensions of Family Structure in Low-Income African American Families: Emergent Themes in Qualitive Research. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 30(2), 177-187.
- Jensen, T. & Shafer, K. (2013). Stepfamily functioning and closeness: children's views on second marriages and stepfather relationships. *Social Work*, *58*(2), 127–136.
- Jensen, T. M., & Harris, K. M. (2017). A Longitudinal Analysis of Stepfamily Relationship Quality and Adolescent Physical Health. *University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill* 61(4): 486–492.
- Jensen, T. M., Lippold, M. A., Mills, K. R., & Fosco, G. M. (2018). Stepfamily Relationship Quality and Children's Internalizing and Externalizing Problems. *Family Process*, 57(2), 477-495.
- Jensen, T. M., & Pace, G. T. (2016). Stepfather Involvement and Stepfather-Child Relationship Quality: Race and Parental Marital Status as Moderators. *Journal of Marital & Family Therapy*, 42(4), 659—672.
- Jensen, T. M., Shafer, K., & Holmes, E. K. (2017). Transitioning to stepfamily life: the influence of closeness with biological parents and stepparents on children's stress. *Child & Family Social Work*, 22(1), 275–286. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/cfs.12237
- Jensen, T. M., Shafer, K., & Larson, J. H. (2014). (Step)parenting attitudes and expectations: Implications for stepfamily functioning and clinical

- intervention. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 95(3), 213–220. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1606/1044-3894-2014.95.27
- Renate Kahlke. (2018). Reflection/Commentary on a Past Article: "Generic Qualitative Approaches: Pitfalls and Benefits of Methodological Mixology." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1609406918788193
- Kennedy, D. M. (2016). Is it any Clearer? Generic Qualitative Inquiry and the VSAIEEDC Model of Data Analysis. Qualitative Report, 21(8), 1369.
- Kim-Spoon, J., Maciejewski, D. F., & Grimm, K. J. (2019). Contemporary quantitative statistical methods for family psychology. In B. H. Fiese, M. Celano, K. Deater-Deckard, E. N. Jouriles, & M. A. Whisman (Eds.), APA handbook of contemporary family psychology: Foundations, methods, and contemporary issues across the lifespan., Vol. 1. (pp. 299-316).
- King, V., Boyd, L. M., & Pragg, B (2018). Parent-Adolescent Closeness, Family Belonging, and Adolescent Well-Being Across Family Structures. *Journal of Family Issues*, 39(7), 2007-2036.
- King, V., Boyd, L. M., & Thorsen, M. L. (2015). Adolescents' perceptions of family belonging in stepfamilies. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77(3), 761-774.
- King, V., Boyd, L. M., & Thorsen, M. L. (2016). Factors Associated With Perceptions of Family Belonging Among Adolescents. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 78(4), 1114-1130.

- Kolbert, J. B., Crothers, L. M., & Field, J. E. (2013). Clinical interventions with adolescents using a family systems approach. *The Family Journal*, *21*(1), 87-94.
- Kogan, S. M., Yu, T., & Brown, G. L. (2016). Romantic relationship commitment behavior among emerging adult African American men. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 78, 996–1012.
- Kouros, C. D., & Garber, J. (2014). Trajectories of individual depressive symptoms in adolescents: Gender and family relationships as predictors. *Developmental Psychology*, 50(12), 2633-2643.
- Krippendorf, K. (2012). *Content analysis: An introduction to its methodology*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lacewell, C. A. (2016). Case study of an African American community's perspectives on closing the achievement gap (Order No. 10245962). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University. (1845037860). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1845037860?accountid=14872
- Lawrence, J., & Tar, U. (2013). The use of grounded theory technique as a practical tool for qualitative data collection and analysis. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 11(1), 29-40.
- Lee, D., & McLanahan, S. (2015). Family Structure Transitions and Child Development.

 *American Sociological Review, 80(4), 738-763.
- Lemmons, B. P., & Johnson, W. E. (2019). Game Changers: A Critical Race Theory

 Analysis of the Economic, Social, and Political Factors Impacting Black

- Fatherhood and Family Formation. Social Work in Public Health, 34(1), 86-101.
- Levitt, H. M. (2016). Qualitative methods. In J. C. Norcross, G. R. VandenBos, D. K. Freedheim, B. O. Olatunji, J. C. Norcross, G. R. VandenBos, ... B. O. Olatunji (Eds.), *APA handbook of clinical psychology: Theory and research, Vol. 2* (pp. 335-348). Washington, DC, US: American Psychological Association.
- Loh, J. (2013). Inquiry into issues of trustworthiness and quality in narrative studies: A perspective. *The Qualitative Report*, *18*(33), 1-15.
- Lopoo, L.M., DeLeire, T., (2014). Family Structure and the Economic Wellbeing of Children in Youth and Adulthood, Social Science Research, *43*, 30-44.
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2015). Sample Size in Qualitative Interview Studies: Guided by Information Power. *Qualitative Health Research*,
- Metts, S. M., Schrodt, P., & Braithwaite, D. O. (2017). Stepchildren's Communicative and Emotional Journey from Divorce to Remarriage: Predictors of Stepfamily Satisfaction. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *58*(1), 29-43.
- Nowell, L. S., Norris, J. M., White, D. E., & Moules, N. J. (2017). Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *16*(1).
- O'Malley, M. m., Voight, A., Renshaw, T. L., & Eklund, K. (2015). School Climate, Family Structure, and Academic Achievement: A Study of Moderation Effects. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 30(1), 142-157), 71-85.
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful Sampling for Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis in

- Mixed Method Implementation Research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533–544.
- Palombi, M. (2016). Separations: A Personal Account of Bowen Family Systems Theory.

 *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 37(3), 327-339.
- Parent, J., Clifton, J., Forehand, R., Golub, A., Reid, M., & Pichler, E. R. (2014). Parental mindfulness and dyadic relationship quality in low-income cohabiting Black stepfamilies: Associations with parenting experienced by adolescents. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice*, 3(2), 67-82.
- Parker, K. (2011). A portrait of stepfamilies. Pew Research Centers Social Demographic Trends Project RSS. Retrieved from http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2011/01/13/a-portrait-of-stepfamilies
- Parker, K. (2015). The American family today. Pew Research Centers Social Trends.

 Retrieved from http://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2015/12/17/1-the-american-family-today/
- Peters, K, & Halcomb, E. (2015). Interviews in Qualitative research. Nurse Researcher, 22(4), 6-7.
- Rious, J. B., Cunningham, M., & Beale Spencer, M. (2019). Rethinking the Notion of "Hostility" in African American Parenting Styles. *Research in Human Development*, 16(1), 35-50.
- Roehlkepartain, E. C., & Syvertsen, A. K. (2014). Family Strengths and Resilience: Insights from a National Study. *Reclaiming Children & Youth*, 23(2), 13-18.
- Ryan, R. M., & Claessens, A. (2012). Associations between family structure changes and

- children's behavior problems: The moderating effects of timing and marital birth.

 Developmental Psychology Performance Trajectories. Journal of Marriage and

 Family, 73(3), 541-556.
- Ryan, R. M., & Claessens, A. (2013). Associations between family structure changes and children's behavior problems: The moderating effects of timing and marital birth. Developmental Psychology, 49(7), 1219-1231.
- Ryan, R. M., Claessens A. & Markowitz, A. (2014). Family Structure and Children's Behavior. *Developmental Psychology*, 30(2), 11-14.
- Ryan, R. M., Claessens, A., & Markowitz, A. J. (2015). Associations Between Family

 Structure Change and Child Behavior Problems: The Moderating Effect of Family

 Income. *Child Development*, (1), 112.
- Shapiro, D. N., & Stewart, A. J. (2012). Dyadic support in stepfamilies: Buffering against depressive symptoms among more and less experienced stepparents. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 26(5), 833-838.
- Shosha, G. A. (2012). Employment of Colaizzi's strategy in descriptive phenomenology: a reflection of a researcher. *European Scientific Journal*, (27), 31.
- Sorsa, M. A., Kilkkala, I., & Astedt-Kurki. P. (2015). Bracketing as a skill in conducting unstructured qualitative interview. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(4), 8-12.
- Stewart, H., Gapp, R., & Hardwood, I. (2017). Exploring the Alchemy of Qualitative Management Research: Seeking Trustworthiness, Credibility and Rigor Through Crystallization. *Qualitative Report*, 22(1), 1-19.
- Suh, G. W, Fabricius, W. V., Stevenson, M. M., Parke, R. D., Cookston, J. T., Braver, S.

- L., Saenz, D. S. (2016) Effects of the interparental relationship on adolescents' emotional security and adjustment: The important role of fathers. *Developmental Psychology*, *52*(10), 1666.
- Sun, Y., & Li, Y. (2011). Effects of Family Structure Type and Stability on Children's School Performance Trajectories. *Journal of Marriage & Family*, 73(3), 541-556.
- Turunen, J. (2014). Adolescent educational outcomes in blended families: Evidence from Swedish register data. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, *55*(7), 568-589.
- U. S. Census Bureau, (2014). *Adopted Children and Stepchildren: 2010. Allegany County, N.Y.* Retrieved December 31, 2016, from https://www.census.gov/prod/2014p ubs/p20-572.pdf
- US Census, (2016). Current Population Survey Annual Social and Economic Supplement www.census.gov/hhes/families/
- US Census, (2017). Current Population Survey Annual Social and Economic Supplement www.census.gov/hhes/families/
- U. S. Census Bureau, (2019). Household Type (Including Living Alone) By Relationship: 2019. Retrieved April 13, 2021, from https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=b09019&g=0100000US,.04000.001&tid= ACSDT1Y2018.B09019&tp=true&hidePreview=false
- Van Eck, K, Johnson, S. R., Bettencourt, A., & Johnson, S. L. (2017). How school climate relates to chronic absence: A multi-level latent profile analysis. *Journal of school Psychology*, 61,89-102.
- van Eeden ☐ Moorefield, B., & Malloy, K. (2015). Review of Stepfamilies: A global

- perspective on research, policy, and practice. *Journal of Family Theory & Review*, 7(1), 72-78.
- Voisin, D., Elsaesser, C., Ki,, D., Patel, S., & Cantara, A. (2016). The Relationship Between Family Stress and Behavioral Health Among African American Adolescents. Journal of Child & Family Studies, 25(7), 2201-2210.
- Washington, T., Rose, T., Coard, S. I., Patton, D. U., Young, S., Giles, S., & Nolen, (2017). Family-Level Factors, Depression, and Anxiety among African American Children: A Systematic Review. *Child & Youth Care Forum*, 46(1), 137-156.
- Xia, M., Fosco, G. M., & Feinberg, M. E. (2016). Examining reciprocal influences among family climate, school attachment, and school self-regulation: Implications for school success. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 30(4), 442-452.
- Zartler, U., Heintz-Martin, V., & Becker, O. A. (2015). Family dynamics after separation from a life course perspective: Conceptual foundations. *Zeitschrift Für Familienforschung –Journal of Family Research*, 279-18.
- Zeleznikow, L., & Zeleznikow, J. (2015). Supporting blended families to remain intact: A case study. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage*, 56(4), 317-335.

Appendix A: Prescreening Interview Questions

Date:
Time:
Respondent:
Contact Information:
Contact attempts:
1). Are you a married African American parent residing in a blended/stepfamily unit?
2). Are you a born male or female who is either a biological or non-biological parent to at least one school-aged child in a blended/stepfamily unit? (must be less than 3 years)
3). On a scale of 1-10 where 10 is the highest quality, what is the quality of your current blended family environment?
4). What is the past and/or present behavior of the children residing in your blended family household? (at home, public school or other social settings)
5). The purpose of this study will be to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their child's academic performance. Therefore, what other pertinent data relating to your blended family's experienced family structure change do you believe would be relevant to this study.

Accepted: Yes or No

Participant on Reserve: Yes or No

Appendix B: Parent Participant Questions

Date:	Time:	-
Participant:		
Contact Information:		
Contact attempts:		

All answers are confidential

- 1). What specific occurrence/s caused the development of your blended family unit?
- 2). What is the quality of your current marital status?
- 3). How do you and your spouse handle marital related conflicts?
- 4). How do you and your spouse handle familial related conflicts?
- 5). What is the quality of the stepparent/child relationship/s in your blended family household?
- 6). What is the quality of the sibling relationship/s in your blended family household?
- 7). What is the past and/or present behavior of the children residing in your blended family household? (at home, school or other social settings)
- 8). What are some of the personal unique blended family dynamics/challenges for you and/or a family member?
- 9). What are some of the specific parenting skills and/or strategies you or your spouse use to help mitigate the impact that family structure change can have on your child's overall well-being?
- 10). The purpose of this study is to determine what strategies African American parents in blended families used to lessen the impact that family structural changes have on their child overall well-being and behavior. Therefore, what other pertinent data relating to your blended family's experienced family structure change do you believe to be relevant to this study.